NO. 162 • APRIL 2014 RONTIER CENTRE FOR PUBLIC POLICY

# Housing Affordability and the Standard of Living in Calgary

BRID

Wendell Cox



#### About the author

**Wendell Cox** is principal of Wendell Cox Consultancy (Demographia), a St. Louisbased (Missouri-Illinois) international public policy firm. He is an expert in land-use and transportation policy and is co-author of the "Demographia International Housing Affordability Survey," which has examined metropolitan areas in Canada, Australia, Ireland, New Zealand, the United Kingdom and the United States since 2004 and will cover 10 nations in its 10th edition (2014).

The Frontier Centre for Public Policy sponsors the "Survey" in Canada.

He has written and spoken widely on the role of housing affordability in the standard of living and in poverty reduction, including national speaking tours of Australia and during numerous international presentations.

He is author of *War on the Dream: How Anti-sprawl Policy Threatens the Quality of Life* and the coauthor with Richard Vedder of *The Wal-Mart Revolution: How Big-Box Stores Benefit Consumers, Workers, and the Economy.* In addition to these books, he has been a frequent book chapter contributor and is the author of a regular column in www.newgeography.com.

Cox is also the author of the widely cited "Demographia World Urban Areas," which is the only compendium of population, land area and population density for all known urban areas (population centres) of 500,000 or more people.

He was a visiting professor for nine years at the Conservatoire national des arts et métiers, a Paris university. He has a BA in Government from California State University, Los Angeles, and an MBA from Pepperdine University in Los Angeles. Mayor Tom Bradley appointed him to three terms on the Los Angeles County Transportation Commission, which was the top policy body in both highways and transit in the largest county in the United States. He was appointed by then Speaker of the United States House of Representatives Newt Gingrich to the Amtrak Reform Council to fulfill the unexpired term of New Jersey Governor Christine Todd Whitman when she resigned from the Council.

He was an invited participant in a forum sponsored by Calgary Transit in 1999.

Wendell Cox is a senior fellow at the Frontier Centre for Public Policy.



MB: 203-2727 Portage Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba Canada R3J 0R2 Tel: 204-957-1567 Email: manitoba@fcpp.org SK: 2353 McIntyre Street, Regina, Saskatchewan Canada S4P 2S3 Tel: 306-352-2915 Email: saskatchewan@fcpp.org

AB: Ste. 603, 734-7th Avenue SW, Calgary, Alberta Canada T2P 3P8 Tel: 587-930-2289 Email: alberta@fcpp.org

The Frontier Centre for Public Policy is an independent, non-profit organization that undertakes research and education in support of economic growth and social outcomes that will enhance the quality of life in our communities. Through a variety of publications and public forums, the Centre explores policy innovations required to make the prairies region a winner in the open economy. It also provides new insights into solving important issues facing our cities, towns and provinces. These include improving the performance of public expenditures in important areas like local government, education, health and social policy. The author of this study has worked independently and the opinions expressed are therefore their own, and do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the board of the Frontier Centre for Public Policy.

Copyright © MMXIV by the Frontier Centre for Public Policy.

Date of First Issue: April 2014.

Reproduced here with permission of the author. Any errors or omissions and the accuracy and completeness of this paper remain the responsibility of the author.

ISSN 1491-78





FCPP Policy Series No. 162 • April 2014

# Housing Affordability and the Standard of Living in Calgary

## **Wendell Cox**

#### Table of Contents

Title	Page
Executive Summary	4
1. Focusing on priorities	9
2. The Calgary Area: Trends and planning	12
3. Fundamentals of the housing market	16
4. Shortage of new housing and lots	21
5. Mobility and economic growth	30
6. Mobility in Calgary	33
7. Sustainability	49
8. Broader economic effects	54
9. Putting people first for a more prosperous Calgary	56
Recommendations	57
Appendix A	59
Appendix B	61
Appendix B	64
Endnotes	67

Note to reader: Endnotes and some words in this document may appear in <u>blue</u> and underlined. When e-reading, these links will directly access relevant online websites or documents using your associated browser. Endnotes' numerals will directly link to the appropriate reference at the end of this document.

# **Executive Summary**

#### **1. Focusing on Priorities**

Over the past two centuries, the world has become more urban, as people have moved to the cities to better their lives. Cities exist because, as large labour markets, **they facilitate a higher standard of living for residents and reduce poverty.** Governments place a high priority on these social goods. Achieving them requires that governments pursue policies that lead to higher household discretionary income. Governments must also proactively avoid policies that reduce discretionary income. Regrettably, urban containment policy, the subject of this report, increases house prices relative to income, thereby reducing discretionary income and the standard of living while increasing poverty.

Alain Bertaud, former principal urban planner at the World Bank, expressed the important role played by urban planning as follows: "Increasing mobility and affordability are the two main objectives of urban planning. These two objectives are directly related to the overall goal of maximizing the size of a city's labor market, and therefore, its economic prosperity."

Yet, the dominant strain of urban planning, urban containment policy, leads to a lower standard of living and greater poverty by increasing housing costs relative to income. This occurs because urban containment policy places artificial limits on the supply of land and housing, which drive up prices because of an excess of demand over supply. The cost of housing is the largest element of household budgets and is thus a major determinant of the standard of living and the extent of poverty. There is a need to focus on the fundamental priority of improving the standard of living and reducing poverty (Section 1).

This report examines urban planning policy and its impact on housing affordability in the Calgary area.

#### 2. The Calgary Area: Trends and Planning

Calgary is Canada's fastest-growing metropolitan area. Like metropolitan areas around the world, the Calgary area population is dispersing. Approximately 80 per cent of the population lives in the city of Calgary. However, it is projected that 44 per cent of the population growth through 2039 will be outside the city.

As the largest jurisdiction in the area, the City of Calgary plays a dominant role. It has adopted strong urban containment policies that require significant densification, the expansion of transit and a staged development program intended to curb the geographic expansion. The philosophy behind this program was adopted in the Calgary Metropolitan Plan, which applies to some jurisdictions outside the city but not all, as some jurisdictions withdrew (Section 2).

#### 3. The Impact of Urban Containment Policy and the Standard of Living

Other things being equal, economic principle indicates that when there is a shortage of a good that is in demand, prices will tend to increase. This relationship is not just

theoretical; it has been documented in decades of actual experience (at least since the work of Sir Peter Hall and others, referenced below, more than four decades ago). It is so compelling that economist Paul Cheshire, of the London School of Economics, has concluded that urban containment policy is irreconcilable with housing affordability.

With its strong urban containment policies, the Calgary area could be at risk of repeating the even-more severe cost escalation that has occurred in metropolitan areas with longer histories of urban containment policy, such as Vancouver and Sydney (Section 3).

#### 4. Housing Affordability and the Standard of Living in the Calgary Area

Historically, Calgary was characterized by broad-based housing affordability. Until 2000, the median single-family house price was approximately 3.0 times the median household income. This is consistent with other metropolitan areas throughout the New World (Canada, Australia, New Zealand and the United States) following World War II prior to their adoption of urban containment policies.

Over the last decade, Calgary has developed its stronger urban-containment planning regime (Plan It Calgary), and house prices have escalated strongly. The most recent data indicate that the median single-family house is approximately 4.8 times the median household income, a 60 per cent increase since 2000.

The result is that many households are priced out of the housing market. At today's house prices, 64,000 fewer Calgary-area households qualify for a mortgage on the average-priced house than would qualify if the house price to income ratio had remained at the same level as in 2005. There is an even larger reduction in the number of households (80,000) that would qualify to purchase the average new house. This is more households than reside in Alberta's third-largest city, Red Deer.

Calgary's housing affordability loss is typical of metropolitan areas that have adopted urban containment policy. As policies are publicly formulated and then adopted, land prices rise where development is permitted, removing the competitive supply of land on which housing affordability depends (Section 4).

#### 5. Mobility and Economic Growth

Metropolitan areas are unitary labour markets. Any attempt to fragment these markets is likely to lead to lower levels of economic growth. Yet, urban containment policy seeks to localize commuting trips within metropolitan areas, a concept called the "jobs-housing" balance. As attractive as the concept may seem, virtually all attempts in democratic societies have failed.

Economic growth improves with greater mobility, which is the ability of residents to commute to the maximum number of jobs in the metropolitan area in a specific amount of time (such as 30 minutes). Transit, cycling and walking are appropriate for many. However, these modes are unable to compete with the automobile in providing quick and comprehensive mobility throughout the metropolitan area. Further, the mobility and standard of living of low-income households are improved by automobile access (Section 5).

#### 6. Mobility in Calgary

Calgary has developed the most highly patronized light rail system in the New World (Canada, Australia, New Zealand and the United States). Further, Calgary has a larger transit market share than nearly all metropolitan areas of similar size in the New World. Yet, per capita transit ridership has not materially increased in the three decades since light rail started. Cars continue to be the dominant mode of travel in Calgary, and the latest National Household Survey indicates an increase in the market share of people travelling to work by car.

The City's imagineCALGARY program has the objective of increasing per capita transit ridership by 40 per cent within little more than two decades. It is unlikely that this goal is achievable, since the transit markets with the highest potential for ridership are already served. Transit cannot attract material numbers of automobile drivers unless it can compete with automobile travel times, which are usually much shorter. The City's computer modelling confirms that expected transit improvements will not materially increase the share of travel on transit. The modelling indicates that significant penalties for driving would be necessary, eventually rising to more than \$1-billion annually, to materially increase transit's market share.

Moreover, no metropolitan area in the Western world has attempted to develop an automobile-competitive transit system. The annual cost of such a program could rival a city's gross domestic product.

Further, higher densities are associated with more-intense traffic congestion. In combination with the inability to substantially increase the share of transit, densification is likely to lead to much more serious traffic throughout the Calgary area (Section 6).

#### 7. Sustainability

Sustainability is a principal underlying the justification of urban containment policy, particularly the reduction of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Yet urban containment policy produces only minimal GHG emissions reductions and at an exorbitant cost.

In the United States, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) estimates that its fuel economy improvements will cost a *negative* \$200 to \$300 per tonne of GHG emissions reduction. McKinsey & Company estimates that GHG emissions sufficient to achieve the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) recommended reduction rates to 2030 could be achieved at an average cost of *minus* \$9 per tonne.

The cost of urban containment policy is far higher than these metrics indicated by Mckinsey & Company and the EPA above. The estimated cost of reducing GHG emissions through transit alternatives is \$1,000 per tonne, and the additional housing costs incurred to reduce GHG are estimated at nearly \$20,000 per tonne in the United States. Expenditures of this magnitude can seriously delay economic growth.

Further, urbanization is not a threat to agricultural production. There has been a reduction in Canada's farmland, but not because of urbanization. Farming has become more productive and, thus, less land is necessary. In fact, due to improved productivity, the amount of land covered by urban areas is less than the reduction

in farmland (Section 7).

#### 8. Broader Economic Impact

Not surprisingly, the reductions in household discretionary income associated with urban containment have also led to less robust metropolitan-area growth according to research in the United Kingdom, continental Europe and the United States.

The Bank of Canada has expressed concerns about rising household debt and rising house prices. These concerns were also a factor in the downgrading of most major Canadian banks by international rating agencies in 2012. They are heightened by the longer-term possibility of higher interest rates that would put even more pressure on household budgets.

The experience of Australia and New Zealand suggests that house-price escalation in Canada could be greater in the years to come than what has already occurred.

Housing costs, the largest expenditure item of household budgets and a significant driver of inflation, are beyond the policy purview of the Bank of Canada. The land-use policies of provinces and metropolitan areas are the principal determinant of house-price escalation beyond historic norms (Section 8).

#### 9. Putting People First for a More Prosperous Calgary

If house prices continue to increase at a rate greater than incomes in the Calgary area, the standard of living could decline further and real poverty could increase. There is a need for policies that put people first by restoring and maintaining historical housing affordability. The following recommendations are proposed.

#### The municipal jurisdictions of the Calgary area should do the following:

- Focus on improving the standard of living and eradicating poverty by establishing housing affordability standards and by monitoring house prices relative to the standards.
- Ensure that a competitive supply of land is available for immediate development at 2000 and before price ratios. (Jurisdictions such as Rocky View County, Foothills #31 and Wheatland County, which are not signatories to the Calgary Metropolitan Plan, are particularly well positioned to take the quickest actions to provide housing affordability to households.)
- Implement infrastructure finance options such as bonding, user fees and special housing districts that could improve housing affordability.
- Adopt transportation policies that maximize mobility throughout the Calgary area. These strategies should seek to minimize commute travel times throughout the metropolitan area regardless of the mode of travel.
- Revise the Calgary Metropolitan Plan so it is consistent with the recommendations for the Calgary-area jurisdictions listed above.

#### The City of Calgary should do the following:

• Revise its urban planning policies to focus principally on improving the standard of living and reducing poverty by restoring historic housing affordability.

- Revise its regularly scheduled land supply analysis to require a sufficient supply of affordable land. This would replace the present approach that fails to incorporate any historical land cost data. This would necessitate that sufficient land be available for immediate development at prices consistent with historic norms (2000 and before).
- The province should report annually on housing affordability in each of the census metropolitan areas (CMAs), census agglomerations and larger municipalities by using a price to income ratio (such as the median multiple, which is the median house price divided by the median household income).

Urban policies that improve the standard of living and reduce poverty by restoring housing affordability should attract broad political support. There is nothing more fundamental in public policy than facilitating higher standards of living and eradicating poverty (Section 9).

# If house prices continue to increase at a rate greater than incomes in the Calgary area, the standard of living could decline further and real poverty could increase.

# **1. Focusing on priorities**

Throughout history, people have moved to cities for better lives. Cities offered better opportunities because households could expect to enjoy greater discretionary incomes than in rural areas, and there were greater opportunities for upward economic mobility. Cities are economic entities. Former World Bank principal urban planner Alain Bertaud (2004) noted: "*Large labor markets are the only raison d'être of large cities.*" **The very purpose of cities is to facilitate a higher standard of living for residents and to reduce poverty.** He continues: "Increasing mobility and affordability are the two main objectives of urban planning. These two objectives are directly related to the overall goal of maximizing the size of a city's labor market, and therefore, its economic prosperity."<sup>2</sup>

Consistent with this, the virtually universal domestic public policy priority of governments is the betterment of people by facilitating a higher standard of living and reducing poverty. Achieving this objective requires that governments pursue policies that lead to higher household discretionary income.<sup>3</sup> Governments must also proactively avoid policies that reduce discretionary income. Regrettably, urban containment policy, the subject of this report, increases house prices relative to incomes, thereby reducing discretionary income and the standard of living while increasing poverty.

Urban containment policy has been advocated for at least seven decades.<sup>4</sup> Urban containment is referred to as "smart growth," "compact city policy," "growth management," "liveability," and "densification" among others. One method urban containment uses to limit the expansion of urban areas (suburbanization or pejoratively called "urban sprawl") is to severely restrict or prohibit development on or beyond the urban fringe (Box 1, next page).

A related element of urban containment policy is to limit the use of the automobile<sup>5</sup> by transferring demand to transit, cycling or walking.

Economic principle holds that other things being equal, a scarcity in the supply of a product will tend to influence its price upwardly. This is true of land for urban development—policies that severely restrict the availability of land are associated with higher and rising house prices. Economists Richard Green and Stephen Malpezzi summarize the issue:

"When the supply of any commodity is restricted, the commodity's price rises. To the extent that land-use, building code, housing finance, or any other type of regulation is binding, it will worsen housing affordability."<sup>6</sup>

The higher prices associated with urban containment policy have broken the historical link between house prices and household income (Appendix B), reducing discretionary household income.

Since housing is the largest item in household budgets,<sup>2</sup> more-expensive housing reduces discretionary income, which is the money left over after taxes and funds needed for necessities (non-discretionary income). Less discretionary income means

BOX 1

## Urban Expansion in Context

Cities grow geographically as they add population. This has been the case since the first cities arose. The extent of this spatial expansion has become greater as cities have grown exponentially and transportation technology has improved. This spatial expansion is related to the desire on the part of people for better lives (Section 1). This paper does not argue that urban expansion (urban sprawl) is inherently wealth generating; however, it certainly has been associated with an unprecedented expansion of affluence and the reduction of poverty.

Virtually all of the largest cities in the world have expanded at least as rapidly as they have added population (see "Dispersion in the World's Largest Urban Areas"<sup>10</sup>). Urban expansion is not a unique Canadian or U.S. phenomenon. It can be witnessed from Atlanta, with the world's lowest major urban area density, to London, Paris, Tehran, Lagos, Jakarta and Shanghai and even to Dhaka,<sup>11</sup> which has the world's highest urban density.

Urban containment policies seek to slow, stop, or even reverse this organic expansion. Nonetheless, in his recently published book, Planet of Cities, New York University professor and urban planner Shlomo Angel advises coming to terms with urban expansion.<sup>12</sup> He urges the abandonment of artificial limits on urban expansion and population growth (such as urban containment boundaries) and promotes programs to improve economic development and the quality of life. He decries the notion that "cities should simply be contained and enclosed by greenbelts or impenetrable urban growth boundaries" as "uninformed or utopian" because it makes sustainability "an absolute end that then justifies all means to attain it."

a lower standard of living and higher rates of poverty.

Data over recent decades show that there is an association between house prices and household income, with houses generally costing approximately three times income. However, this nexus has been broken, nearly exclusively in metropolitan areas with urban containment policies, from the most vibrant (such as San Francisco, London and Sydney) to those that have experienced significant industrial decline (such as Liverpool and Glasgow).

Much of the justification for urban containment policy is the expectation that it will materially reduce GHG emissions. However, urban containment policy is an overly expensive and ineffective strategy for reducing GHG emissions (Section 7.1).

Housing affordability has deteriorated markedly in the Calgary area in recent years. At the same time, the City of Calgary, which contains most of the population of the Calgary area, has adopted strong urban containment policies, which are echoed in the Calgary Metropolitan Plan.

Experience elsewhere indicates that without policy reforms that prioritize people over the urban form, urban containment policies will substantially worsen housing affordability in the future. As is indicated in "Urban Policy: Time for a Paradigm Shift,"<sup>§</sup> there is a need to focus on the fundamental

objectives of maintaining or improving the standard of living and reducing poverty. This report considers land-use, transportation policy and plans and their potential impact on the standard of living in the Calgary area. The principal focus is the cost of housing, which is the largest element of household budgets. Housing is also the budget element that is subject to the largest variation relative to income between metropolitan areas, with Vancouver's house price to income ratio being more than four times that of some markets in Atlantic Canada.<sup>9</sup> Housing affordability, as used in this report, refers to broad measures of house prices relative to income for *all households* and is not limited to social housing, subsidized housing or housing for low-income residents. However, low-income housing is a crucial issue and tends to be more costly where public policies have allowed overall housing affordability to deteriorate substantially.

# Housing affordability has deteriorated markedly in

the Calgary area in recent years.

# 2. The Calgary Area: Trends and planning

As noted above, virtually all of the largest metropolitan areas in the world have decentralized and have experienced declining urban population densities.<sup>13</sup> This occurred as the automobile became the principal mode of transport in all major Western world metropolitan areas, and households sought detached houses or other ground-oriented accommodation<sup>14</sup> in lower density suburban areas (with a few exceptions<sup>15</sup>).

#### 2.1 Population projections in Calgary

These trends have characterized the Calgary area's growth. Calgary continues to grow rapidly. Like virtually all of the world's large metropolitan areas, Calgary<sup>16</sup> is decentralizing. Based upon Alberta Ministry of Finance and City of Calgary projections, it is likely that approximately 30 per cent of the Calgary area population will be outside the city. Approximately 20 per cent of the Calgary area population is already outside the city. The present population of under 300,000 would rise to nearly 700,000 (Chart 1). Approximately 56 per cent of the increase in the Calgary Region population is projected to be in the city, with 23 per cent in the fully developed<sup>17</sup> area and 33 per cent in the newer suburbs and approximately 44 per cent of the growth would be outside the city through 2039 (Chart 2).



Source: Derived from Alberta Ministry of Finance, and the City of Calgary.



Source: Derived from Alberta Ministry of Finance, and the City of Calgary.

Between 2017 and 2039, it is anticipated that the fully developed area will add more than six times the population on an annual basis as it did between 2012 and 2017. At the same time, a near mirror image decline is projected to occur in the annual population growth of the suburban areas in the city (Chart 3). The expectation of such a large spurt in fully developed area growth could be optimistic in view of existing development patterns and trends.



Source: Derived from City of Calgary data.

#### 2.2. Urban planning in the Calgary area

The City of Calgary and other local jurisdictions in the Calgary area have made significant changes to their urban planning approaches.

Most importantly, the City of Calgary has implemented policies that require significant densification of new suburban developments and greater intensification of fully developed areas. Through various processes, such as the Envision Calgary program, City policy has evolved into a much more rigorous urban containment-planning regime, which goes under the title of Plan It Calgary.

Plan It Calgary requires that newly developed areas meet population and employment density levels. Residential growth is strictly directed into specific areas designated by the City, and greenfield development is generally prohibited elsewhere. This higher density development severely reduces the land on which urban development is permitted compared with the planning approach in effect before the adoption of Plan It Calgary.

Even so, the City of Calgary has indicated in various documents its commitment to ensuring a supply of land to maintain or even improve housing affordability. For example, in reporting the 2006 mediation agreement between the City and Rocky View County, the City of Calgary noted:

The annexation ensures a healthy land supply that Calgary needs in order to retain its competitive edge as a city, while at the same time ensuring it becomes a more affordable city to live in. This future land will be developed for all uses, allowing for the comprehensive planning of new areas, promoting a competitive marketplace and encouraging a greater supply of new housing choices.

The City conducts regular surveys to ensure that there is sufficient land available for housing so that it can support future population growth. However, this approach is incomplete because the metrics that would ensure a competitive market for land (a prerequisite for housing affordability) are excluded (Section 3).

Plan It Calgary also includes substantial improvements to transit and the infrastructure necessary for walking and cycling and seeks to reduce automobile use from projected levels.

**Calgary Metropolitan Plan:** Under the Calgary Metropolitan Plan, other jurisdictions in the Calgary area are also committed to urban containment policies. However, not all jurisdictions have adopted the Plan. Furthermore, Rocky View County, Wheatland County, Foothills #31 and High River withdrew from the sponsoring Calgary Regional Partnership. The province is currently considering regional planning legislation.

#### 2.3. Compact Calgary

Despite contentions of urban sprawl, the Calgary built-up urban area ("population centre" is the new term used by Statistics Canada) is comparatively compact. Among the 45 built-up urban areas in Canada and the United States with more than 1,000,000 people at the last censuses (2011 in Canada, 2010 in the United States), all areas that were denser than Calgary were more than double its population. Of those between 1,000,000 and 2,000,000 residents, only Las Vegas, with a population of 1.8 million, was denser. Calgary was approximately 15 per cent denser than Portland, which is renowned for its urban containment policies, which date back nearly four decades (Chart 4).



# 3. Fundamentals of the housing market

For decades, there was a fundamental relationship between house prices and household income. This relationship, which is indicated by an approximate ratio of 3.0 times (or less) between median house prices and median household income, predominated in Canada, the United Kingdom, Australia, Ireland, New Zealand and the United States (Appendix B).<sup>18</sup>

Generally, the fundamental connection between house prices and household incomes has been retained in the metropolitan areas that are not governed by strong urban containment policy or government policies that create land scarcity. On the other hand, the connection between house prices and household income has been substantially broken only where there are strong urban containment policies. All of the major metropolitan areas (in nine nations) with severely unaffordable housing (median multiples above 5.0) over the 10 years of the "Annual Demographia International Housing Affordability Survey" had strong land-use policies, principally urban containment policy.<sup>19</sup> Conversely, none of the major metropolitan areas with liberal land-use policies had severely unaffordable housing. In other words, severely unaffordable housing is strongly associated with urban containment policy. No liberally regulated major metropolitan area in these nations reached severe unaffordability (not even in the disastrous U.S. housing bubble).

## 3.2 The economic research

Perhaps the earliest evaluation of urban containment policy was *The Containment of Urban England,* which was a five-year project by a team of academics led by urbanologist Sir Peter Hall (1973) of University College, London. The subject of this early 1970s work was the housing market as it evolved since the enactment of the *Town and Country Planning Act* in 1947. Hall, et al. found that "perhaps the biggest single factor of the 1947 planning system is that it failed to check the rise in land prices which is probably the largest and most potent element of Britain's postwar inflation." The results are characterized as being inconsistent "with the objective of providing cheap owner occupied housing." Moreover, they note that the planning system has imposed the greatest burden on lower-income households.<sup>20</sup>

In an introduction to the "4th Annual Demographia International Housing Affordability Survey," former governor of the Reserve Bank of New Zealand Donald Brash wrote, "The affordability of housing is overwhelmingly a function of just one thing, the extent to which governments place artificial restrictions on the supply of residential land."<sup>21</sup>

In reports commissioned by the Blair government, former Bank of England Monetary Policy Committee member Kate Barker also wrote about the strong relationship between unaffordable housing prices and urban containment policy.<sup>22</sup>

A New Zealand government report written by Arthur Grimes (2007) when he was chairman of the Board of the Reserve Bank of New Zealand attributed the loss of housing affordability in the nation's largest urban area, Auckland, to urban containment policies. In another report, Grimes (2009) found that per acre prices just inside Auckland's urban growth boundary were 10 times that of comparable land on the other side of this boundary.

The link is so compelling that London School of Economics professor Paul Cheshire concluded from his research that urban containment policy is irreconcilable with housing affordability.<sup>23</sup> Given the importance of housing affordability in household budgets, this means that urban containment policy is incompatible with maintaining or improving the standard of living.

One of Ireland's most respected economists, Colm McCarthy of University College, Dublin, described how the adoption of urban containment policies not only undermined the fundamentals of the housing market, but also led to Ireland's destructive bubble and bust (and one of the most significant economic reversals suffered by any nation in decades).<sup>24</sup>

Ireland passed its first major piece of land-use planning legislation in 1963, modelled on the UK's *Town and Country Planning Act of 1947*. The intentions were laudable, to restrict the construction of unwelcome developments and to empower local authorities to take a more active role in shaping the built environment.

... Our old friend, the Law of Unintended Consequences, began to impact from the mid-Seventies onwards as house prices in Dublin began to diverge from the national average.

... Before land-use zoning came along, house-builders extended the city by buying up farms on the city's edge and building at whatever densities the market would support. But as more and more lands were withdrawn from the buildable stock by the planners, prices began to rise and the housebuilders moved further away from the city proper.

McCarthy noted that urban containment policies had been adopted with good intentions. The impact, however, has been disastrous.

The literature documenting the relationship between urban containment policy and house price increases is reviewed in more detail in Appendix A.

## **3.3 Raising housing costs and forcing low-income residents out of Portland**

The loss of housing affordability is not limited to those who seek to own their own homes. There are indications of a significant and even disproportionate impact on low-income households.

This is evident in Portland, which is one of the international leaders in urban containment

policies. Portland has experienced major house-cost escalation relative to income (Appendix C). However, Portland's low-income households have experienced an even greater loss in housing affordability than the rest of the metropolitan area.

An analysis of postal code areas with poverty rates of 50 per cent or more above average indicates housing cost increases for both owned and rented housing. Owned housing rose in value relative to incomes approximately 75 per cent more in the high poverty areas than elsewhere in the metropolitan area. The cost of rental housing (adjusted for income) rose nearly three times as much in high poverty areas (Chart 5).

The greater rise in housing costs in higher-poverty areas indicates that the social cost of urban containment is even more burdensome on low-income households than is the additional cost that has been imposed on households with average incomes.



Based on a comparison of 2000 and 2010 census data, *The Oregonian* (the metropolitan daily newspaper) noted that ethnic diversity was on the decline in some denser Portland neighbourhoods.<sup>25</sup> In particular, *The Oregonian* noted that many black households have been forced to move from their former more-central location to more-remote areas with less transit service. This is particularly burdensome for lower-income households that generally have lower levels of access to automobiles.

Portland also illustrates the consequences of City government-directed neighbourhood rehabilitation, especially when using devices such as urban renewal and tax incentives. These programs are routinely directed to less affluent neighbourhoods or disused industrial areas. They have had harsh consequences for Portland's largest historic black community, Albina. Residents have been forced out of this formerly lower-income area, as they are unable to afford the newer, more expensive housing that is aimed at young professionals.<sup>26</sup>

Urban deconstruction and displacement of lower-income residents is not new in the United States. According to the Douglas Commission report (which was headed by long-time Illinois Senator Paul H. Douglas), between 1949 and 1967, 400,000 homes were demolished in urban renewal programs and another 330,000 in urban freeway construction projects.<sup>27</sup> The deconstruction was disproportionately conducted in lower-income and minority neighbourhoods.<sup>28</sup> According to Mindy Thompson Fullilove of New York's Columbia University, little replacement housing was built.<sup>29</sup>

More recently, advocates for the remaining minority community in Portland opposed the building of a new store (Trader Joe's) that caters to affluent consumers out of fear that it would encourage even more displacement of the present residents.<sup>30</sup>

Related research by Guanyu Zheng for the New Zealand Productivity Commission found that the higher prices generated by Auckland's urban growth boundary were more severe for lower-cost housing: "... [W]hen the supply of land on the urban periphery is restricted, the price of available residential land rises and new builds tend to be larger and more expensive houses.<sup>31</sup>

California best illustrates the potential for social and economic consequences. It has the highest poverty rate, adjusted for housing costs, in the United States.<sup>32</sup> This, combined with the highest housing costs relative to income in that state, is stark testimony to the economic and social costs of urban containment policy.

In this connection, economist Anthony Downs wrote, "Higher prices then reflect a pure social cost because the efficiency of society's resource allocations has decreased." This means that if households have to pay more for their basic living expenses, such as for housing, they will have a lower standard of living.

## **3.4 Urban containment devices**

Perhaps the most detrimental effect on the price of land for residential development is urban containment policies that severely restrict the land that can be used for new housing. There are three principal strategies (below). Each of these strategies is often devised to allow for expansion as the demand for urbanization increases, although generally at higher population densities than before adoption. The purpose of this expansion is to ensure that there is a land supply for a specified number of years of urban expansion (such as 20 years or 30 years). Scheduled expansions, however, have been difficult and sometimes have not been implemented.

The first such strategy is the urban containment boundary, which may also be called an urban growth boundary. The urban containment boundary permits development within a line drawn around the urban area or jurisdiction, and it permits no urban development outside of it. Urban containment boundaries are in place in such metropolitan areas as Vancouver, Portland, Auckland and Melbourne. Urban containment boundaries can lead to higher land prices and thus higher new-house prices if there is not enough land within the boundary to preserve competitive land prices.

The second urban containment strategy is the greenbelt. A greenbelt is an area around an urban area in which urban development is not permitted. A greenbelt is nearly identical to an urban containment boundary except that development may be permitted outside the greenbelt. The greenbelt is the principal urban containment strategy in England, and London's is perhaps the best known. Toronto also has a greenbelt. Greenbelts can also lead to higher land prices and higher new-house prices if not enough land remains within the greenbelt to preserve competitive land prices. If development is banned or severely limited outside the greenbelt (as is the case in London), the house price increase effect can be indistinguishable from that of an urban containment boundary.

The third urban containment strategy is the growth area, which can be referred to by other labels such as "urban growth areas" and "priority growth areas." Planning authorities designate growth areas, which are often identified in plans such as municipal comprehensive plans. Areas not included in growth areas are, in effect, no-growth areas. Growth areas have virtually the same effect as urban containment boundaries and greenbelts if they do not include sufficient land to preserve competitive land prices. Sydney, for example, relies on growth areas. The City of Calgary's urban containment strategy generally relies on designated growth areas.

## **3.5 Infrastructure costs**

Higher infrastructure and public service costs are often cited as justification for a more compact urban form and the imposition of urban containment strategies.

At the same time, it is important to ensure that levies and charges on new housing do not materially interfere with housing affordability. However, the approach typical of urban containment policy is to front-load attributable costs, which makes new houses more expensive and thus less affordable. Economic research indicates that levies and fees can represent an add-on to house prices where market conditions permit.<sup>33</sup> More often than not, this is likely to be the case in a strong housing market such as Calgary's. This approach is inequitable to buyers of new houses and is associated with higher house prices, including existing housing (Box 2, next page).

Fees and levies are a contentious issue. Developers and home builders often think that fees and levies are too high or that they can cover non-essential infrastructure and services. Municipal leadership often thinks that they are not high enough. Moreover, fees and levies are not an exact science. Different jurisdictions take radically different approaches to them. For example, a 2009 Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation survey found that municipal fees and levies on new detached houses

varied by a factor of more than 10.<sup>34</sup> This may indicate differing perceptions (or tastes) with respect to the effect and desirability of new housing. Some jurisdictions in a metropolitan area, for example, might have a different perception of the fees and levies that are appropriate to charge new-home buyers.

BOX 2

#### **Government-imposed costs, fees and levies**

Before home builders can commence construction, raw land must be converted into finished lots. This is usually a principal task of the land developer, who arranges (and pays for) the local streets and utilities such as sewage, electricity and natural gas lines. Home builders purchase the finished land, the price of which includes the roads and utilities that were put in place by the developer. The street and utility improvements are turned over to the municipality and utility system owners.

In addition, government-imposed charges are an important element of new-house costs.<sup>36</sup> These charges include provincial sales tax, the GST and land transfer taxes as well as transaction fees and infrastructure fees (sometimes known as development levies).

In addition to the expense of preparing the land for construction, developers are also responsible for the public service levies and fees (sometimes called impact fees) paid to municipalities to offset the cost of off-site municipal improvements including infrastructure fees (for streets outside the subdivision and for utilities) and land dedication fees (such as for parks). Generally, these fees are a flat rate per unit of housing, by type of unit (such as single detached, semi-detached, townhouse and apartment or condominium).

There are equity concerns about funding public facilities through up-front charges on developers, which are routinely included in the lot prices charged to home builders and home purchasers.<sup>37</sup> Economic literature indicates that these charges are associated with both higher new-house costs and higher existing house costs, all things being equal.<sup>38</sup> In effect, new-home buyers pay for the new infrastructure, while existing homeowners and multi-family housing owners receive a windfall from the higher values induced by the development charges. At the same time, buyers of new houses, condominiums and rental units must pay for public facilities in advance, while existing owners are permitted to pay their share of such expenditures over time.

Other public facility financing methods are available that would permit owners of homes and multi-unit buildings to pay the attributable costs on a pay as you go basis. These include municipal debt instruments and user fees. Reliance on such instruments could reduce the pressure for higher housing costs, in both new and existing stock, leading to improved housing affordability.

Economist Claude Gruen notes further difficulties with government-imposed charges,<sup>39</sup> such as the fact that public service provision tends to be less expensive in newer suburban communities, and repair and upgrading (required for increasing densities) of infrastructure are more costly in denser, established areas.

New-house prices could be more affordable if attributable charges were financed by debt payable over time. For example, special debt issues payable through the benefitting homeowners' property taxes could accomplish this. Another approach would be to allow the establishment of municipal utility districts that issue public debt that finances necessary infrastructure, and, again, is repaid by the purchasing homeowners. These approaches have been successful in California, Texas and Colorado and are presently under consideration by the New Zealand government.<sup>35</sup>

#### 3.6 Universal applicability of economic principles

The City of Calgary commissioned research that largely dismissed the connection between the urban containment policies of Plan It Calgary and higher house prices. This is covered in Appendix C.

The reality is that economic principles apply in the Calgary area just as they do throughout the world. Limitations on supply lead to higher prices, other things being equal. Urban containment strategies are associated with higher land prices and thus higher new-house prices unless they are liberal enough to maintain a competitive land supply.

# 4. Shortage of new housing and lots

In recent years, the Calgary area has developed a serious housing affordability problem, as house prices have escalated substantially in relation to household income.

#### 4.1 Housing affordability losses

Calgary used to be affordable, even with land-use policies that produced a comparatively compact city. Until the early 2000s when Calgary was characterized by liberal land-use policies, housing was affordable. According to the 1971 census, the median single-family house value in the Calgary metropolitan area was 3.1 times the median household income. Indications are that housing affordability slightly improved over the next three decades, when the median single-family house price was 2.9 times the median household income. This price to income ratio is consistent with the fundamental relationship that has existed between house prices and household income for decades, both in Calgary and nearly all of the metropolitan areas of Canada, Australia, New Zealand and the United States (Appendix B).

Since then, the median price of an existing single-family house in the City of Calgary has increased to 4.8 times the median household income (Figure 6). Thus, for the median household income, the median-priced single-family house now costs almost two more years of income than it did just 12 years ago.



Source: Derived from Statistics Canada, Calgary Real Estate Board, and the City of Calgary.

The huge increase in the average existing resale house price (all types of housing) relative to income illustrates the house-price escalation. Between 2000 and 2012, the average house price rose 129 per cent, more than double the increase in average household income. House prices spiked relative to income in the middle of the period, fell back and have now returned to their record levels relative to income. House prices appear to have plateaued well above their previous ratio to household income, perhaps indicating a fundamental break with the long-term nexus between household income and house prices (Chart 7).



Since 2003, construction of single-family houses dropped relative to new households. From 2000 to 2005, 0.80 new single-family houses were started for each new household. Between 2005 and 2012, the average dropped by one-third to 0.53. The drop in multi-family housing starts was somewhat more modest, from 0.47 to 0.41 (Chart 8, next page).<sup>40</sup>



The price of the average new single-family house has risen far faster than household income. Between 2000 and 2012, the average new single-family house increased in price 157 per cent, more than 2 ½ times the increase in average household income (59 per cent). A price spike occurred similar to that in the existing house market, with some later price retreat. However, prices have begun to rise again, and the plateauing effect indicated in the existing house market also appears in the market for new single-family houses (Chart 9, next page).

Further, there is a growing gap between existing house prices and new single-family house prices. In 2000, the average new single-family house price was 25 per cent above that of the average existing house price. By 2012, the difference had expanded to 41 per cent, an increase of 65 per cent. The Royal Bank of Canada recently noted that a two-tier housing market has emerged in Vancouver and Toronto, with single-family house prices opening up a much wider gap than ever before in prices relative to other housing.<sup>41</sup> Such a two-tier housing market may also be developing in Calgary.

As noted earlier, the City is interested in housing affordability and conducts studies to test the sufficiency of land supply for development. However, the City's approach



excludes a crucial economic metric that would ensure that sufficient land is available at a competitive price.

Land-supply reviews should be based not only on ensuring that there is sufficient land for future growth, but also that the land is competitively priced so that housing is affordable. Surveys of land prices based upon their historic, pre-urban containment policy cost per lot relative to income can ascertain this. Calgary's previous policies accomplished this objective. Those liberal land-use policies, which permitted housing development on competitively priced land, contributed substantially to the rise of a broadly middle-class Canada. The sufficiency of the land supply is not measured in hectarage; rather, it is measured in costs that permit development of housing at its historic price relationship to household income.

If Calgary's extraordinary house price increases were simply the result of excess household demand over housing supply, then it would be expected that the housing industry would respond by increasing production sufficiently to restore a balance. Price to income ratios would have fallen back to the ratios that prevailed for decades. This occurred, for example, in the Toronto area, where a temporary shortage of

housing relative to demand drove a substantial increase in house prices relative to income in the late 1980s, after which the previous price to income ratio was nearly restored.

#### 4.2 Consequences of the housing affordability losses

Moderately priced homes are out of reach for most middle-income and lower-income households in the Calgary area. Between 2005 and 2012, the increase in prices relative to income materially reduced the share of households able to qualify for mortgages.<sup>42</sup>

- Only 35 per cent of Calgary metropolitan area households would have qualified to purchase the average-priced resale house (of all types) in 2012 under CMHC guidelines. This is down from an estimated 48 per cent at the 2005 price to income ratio (Chart 10). As a result, 64,000 fewer of today's households would qualify for a mortgage on the average house than would at the 2005 price to income ratio. This is more households than reside in Lethbridge and Airdrie combined.
- Only 21 per cent of Calgary metropolitan households would have qualified to purchase the average-priced new house (of all types) in 2012 under CMHC guidelines. This is down from an estimated 38 per cent at the 2005 price to income ratio (Chart 11, next page). As a result, 80,000 fewer of today's households would qualify for a mortgage on the average new house than at the 2005 price to income ratio. This is more households than are in Alberta's third-largest city, Red Deer.





Calgary's higher costs relative to income resulted in lower discretionary income and a lower standard of living for households than would have otherwise been the case. For those fortunate enough to qualify for house purchases, the larger mortgages mean larger debts, which contribute to overall concern about household debt levels in Canada (Section 8.2).

#### 4.3 Infrastructure charges

In developing its urban containment policy, the City of Calgary expressed concern about the cost of more-dispersed development. A 2009 report estimated the cost of adding 1.3 million additional residents to the city's population over 60 years. The City estimated that the cost of this more-dispersed, historic pattern of development would be \$34.5-billion compared with \$23.3-billion under the recommended morecompact approach (Plan It Calgary). Thus, the Plan It Calgary scenario is \$11.2-billion less expensive over the 60-year period. Some of this difference is for municipal utilities, which, ideally, are financed by user fees for both capital and operating expenses rather than by general taxation.

Obligations in the billions of dollars can be daunting at first glance. Yet, a difference of \$11.2-billion is only \$1,000 annually per new household in the newly developing areas.<sup>43</sup> Approximately one-quarter of that amount is utility services, which optimally are financed from user fees rather than general taxation.

This additional expense is well within the ability of many households to pay. Those willing to pay should not be denied their choice of housing.

Further, it is not required that any additional costs attributable to serving dispersed development be public obligations. Additional charges should be the responsibility of the new households making such housing choices. Some jurisdictions impose transportation levies on new housing to recover transportation differentials. Indeed, water and wastewater service is most appropriately financed by user fees.

Not permitting dispersed development, however, *reduces* housing choice. Households are denied the choice of spending their money on living in more-dispersed areas. Such a financial choice should belong to the household.

#### 4.4 Factors in the housing affordability losses

Multiple factors may have contributed to the loss of housing affordability in the Calgary area between 2000 and 2012.

**Reduction in home building:** As was noted above, single-family house construction declined relative to new households. This reduction in new supply relative to demand is likely to have had an upward impact on new-house prices.

**Dispute with Rocky View County:** There was an annexation dispute between the City of Calgary and Rocky View County in the mid 2000s. This uncertain development environment could have upwardly affected land prices.

**Expectation and implementation of restrictive land-use policies:** The fact that house prices remain significantly elevated above historic norms indicates that land prices may have risen due to Calgary's more restrictive land-use program during both the development and the implementation of the policies. Such a response would be similar to the stock price increases or decreases that occur as investors react to anticipated earnings performance well before the results are published. It would also be consistent with experiences in other metropolitan areas. For example, recent research by Nathanson and Zwick associated strongly escalating land prices (before the U.S. housing bust) in Las Vegas with a longer-term development constraint (a U.S. government development boundary), leading to speculative activity as developers feared a future land shortage.<sup>44</sup>

The contribution, if any, of higher construction costs per square metre are unclear. According to the City, construction costs did not rise substantially during the period of greatest cost escalation.<sup>45</sup>

Further, it might be expected (wrongly) that the smaller building lots required by the City would lead to lower lot prices. However, the cost of building lots is less a function of lot size and more a function of simple demand, which can be seen when more-liberally regulated market lot prices are compared with those in more constrained markets such as Calgary's.<sup>46</sup> The reality is that higher new-house prices accompany smaller lots, which is typical under urban containment policy.

# 5. Mobility and economic growth

Urban containment policy also seeks to change the behaviour of residents by discouraging automobile use and encouraging more use of transit, cycling and walking. Yet, by virtue of their inherently slower travel times and their more limited ability to access much of the area within the metropolitan area, greater use of these modes can lead to reduced economic growth.

## 5.1 Myth of the jobs-housing balance (urban villages)

Urban containment policy's mobility strategies are based on invalid conceptions of metropolitan areas and the role that mobility plays in their economic performance. Metropolitan areas are unitary labour markets that provide greater opportunities for employees and employers to match skills and job requirements. When governments discourage the quickest mode of travel (in the modern case, the automobile), labour markets can become fragmented and less economically vibrant, which can lead to lower standards of living and greater poverty.

These urban containment policy initiatives have been referred to as the "jobshousing balance, or "urban villages," which imagine that planners can site residences and employment such that people will travel much shorter distances to work. The fundamental problem with this concept is that people and enterprises will tend to seek the best employee-employer matches that are available. In democratic societies, attempts to divide metropolitan areas (labour markets) into smaller parts though urban design have been largely hopeless.

According to former World Bank principal planner Alain Bertaud,<sup>42</sup> "This model does not exist in the real world because it contradicts the economic justification of large cities: the efficiency of large labor markets." He continues: "... [T]he urban village model exists only in the mind of urban planners."

Bertaud supports his point by noting that Seoul's satellite communities were intended to be self-contained towns (urban villages) in which most residents both lived and worked. Yet, most of the workers employed in the satellite towns live in other parts of the metropolitan area. At the same time, most residents of the satellite towns work in other parts of the Seoul metropolitan area. He cites Stockholm regulations requiring neighbourhood jobs-housing balances as having no impact on shortening commute distances even when such a balance is achieved.

Research using 2001 British census data indicated that the residents of London-area new towns, also intended to be populated principally by people who work in them, had average work-trip travel distances of more than their towns' diameters.<sup>48</sup> This means that large numbers of people were travelling to work outside the towns. In London, as in Seoul, the planners can conceptualize the self-contained satellite towns, but it is beyond them to force the behaviours to make them work.

Further, attempts to make (Balkanize) the labour market smaller by restricting mobility can be expected to reduce economic growth.

#### 5.2 Access and economic growth

The economic literature generally associates stronger urban area economic growth and job creation with the ability of workers to access the maximum number of jobs in a short travel time. Access is fundamentally a measure of time. Access can include mobility measures (such as the travel time to work), but it also includes electronic access, which is virtually immediate.

For decades, minimizing access time has been a principle of transport planning. Projects are routinely evaluated, at least in a part, based on the amount of time that they will save users and on the expected economic effects.

Prud'homme and Lee examine the productivity of cities and relate it to the effective size of labour markets. The labour market is defined both in terms of employers and employees and is measured by the number of jobs in the metropolitan area that can either

- Be accessed in a particular period of time (such as 30 minutes) by workers (employee point of view) or;
- (2) Be accessed by the labour force in relation to the work location (enterprise point of view).<sup>49</sup>

Further, research by Cervero indicated a strong relationship between faster journey to work travel speeds and employee productivity:<sup>50</sup>

... [A]verage commute speed—reflecting the provision of transportation infrastructure—most strongly influenced labor productivity in the San Francisco Bay Area, with an elasticity of around 0.10—every 10 percent increase in commuting speed was associated with a one percent increase in worker output, all else being equal.

Hartgen and Fields found similar results for U.S. urban areas,  $\frac{51}{2}$  as did this author for international urban areas.  $\frac{52}{2}$  The economic advantages of personal mobility extend to lower-income households (Box 3, next page).

Virtually across the nation, door-to-door work-trip travel times by automobile are considerably shorter than trips by transit (Section 6.1).<sup>53</sup> Walking and bicycles are inherently more limited than cars are in their geographical access to employment in metropolitan areas. The automobile maximizes mobility, which leads to greater economic growth throughout the modern metropolitan area.

Calgary residents are likely to have better standards of living if commute times are minimized and if the transportation system permits ready access to employment throughout the metropolitan area regardless of residential location. As noted above, however, it is likely that traffic congestion will deteriorate markedly under Plan It Calgary (Section 6.3).

#### **Mobility for Low-income Households**

The role of the automobile in providing mobility for lower-income households is often underestimated.

BOX 3

Research on the mobility opportunities of lower-income households parallels the more general findings above. In research published by the Brookings Institution, Waller and Blumenberg noted the importance of automobile access for lower-income workers.<sup>54</sup>

Even in cities with good transit service, transit travel times, on average, far exceed automobile travel times because of walking to and from stops, waits at stops and for transfers, and frequent vehicle stops along the way. These slower travel speeds are especially difficult for parents who must 'trip chain,' make stops for child care or shop along the commute.

They suggested, "Given the strong connection between cars and employment outcomes, auto ownership programs may be one of the more promising options and one worthy of expansion."

They further suggested: "Those workers fortunate to have access to automobiles can reach many employment opportunities within a reasonable commute time regardless of where they live."

Raphael and Rice find substantial advantages in employment outcomes for people with access to cars as compared with those without cars.<sup>55</sup>

# 6. Mobility in Calgary

As Bertaud indicates, it is important for residents to be able to travel throughout the metropolitan area for work, shopping and leisure (Section 1). This is not just a matter of convenience; it is also strongly related to economic growth, which is a prerequisite for a higher standard of living and for poverty reduction (Section 5). The City of Calgary seeks to discourage automobile use, while attempting to divert drivers to transit, walking and cycling as pointed out in Plan It Calgary.

## 6.1 The transit situation

"The Route Ahead," Calgary Transit's strategic plan, indicates,<sup>56</sup> "Investments in transit are amongst the best investments any city can make—they are investments in the environment, reducing congestion, and improving social mobility. Ultimately, they are investments in improving everyone's quality of life."

The first two of these objectives require attracting automobile drivers, which requires transit services that are time competitive with the automobile. The third objective requires the provision of a basic transit system principally designed to provide mobility



for people without cars. These objectives can conflict (as Calgary Transit indicates).

By passenger counts, Calgary Transit's CTrain carries the largest number of riders of any system in North America, with 285,000 riders per day in 2012<sup>57</sup> (Chart 12), despite being only 30 years old. Of the 15 best-patronized systems in North America, all are in larger metropolitan areas except for Salt Lake City. In addition, 11 more light rail systems in the United States carry between 5,000 and 46,000 riders daily. Combined, their ridership is approximately the same as that of CTrain.

The Calgary metropolitan area ranks fifth out of the six major metropolitan areas in transit work-trip market share. However, outside the four higher-ranking metropolitan areas (Toronto, Montreal, Ottawa and Vancouver), only New York and Sydney have higher transit work-trip market shares in the New World<sup>58</sup> (Chart 13).



Yet, new light rail ridership has not been sufficient to increase per capita transit ridership in Calgary over the last 30 years. In 1981, when the first light rail line opened, Calgary transit carried 90.2 trips per capita (Chart 14, next page). On at least two occasions in the intervening years, ridership per capita declined and then recovered to the earlier level, with the 2012 ridership per capita at 91.1. Thus, the effect of light rail has been to transfer ridership from the bus system, while population and transit ridership have increased at a similar rate. Questions have been asked about the effectiveness of CTrain in drawing drivers out of cars.<sup>59</sup> Questions have also been asked regarding the doubling of costs to build the Blue Line's westerly extension.<sup>60</sup>



Source: Derived from City of Calgary data.

Similarly, between 1981 (the year CTrain opened) and 2011, information from the City of Calgary and the National Household Survey indicates that automobile drivers in the city increased as a share of commuting from 62.4 per cent to 69.7 per cent. The transit share of commuting declined from 20.2 per cent to 17.2 per cent, and other methods, including walking, increased from 6.4 per cent to 7.7 per cent. The share of automobile passengers declined from 11.0 per cent to 5.4 per cent (Chart 15, next page). It appears that this net loss in automobile passengers was transformed into additional driving and other modes of transport.<sup>61</sup> Between 2006 and 2011, the share of commuters living in the city who drove to work increased 2.1 percentage points. This is more than four times the 0.4 percentage point increase in transit's market share.<sup>62</sup> Over the same period, the Calgary metropolitan area increased its share of commuters driving to work more than any other major metropolitan area did.<sup>63</sup>

In fact, the City of Calgary is at least as reliant on automobiles for its mobility in 2012 as it was three decades ago despite a considerable investment in transit, especially light rail. This is because Calgary Transit is unable to compete for most trips with the automobile (Chart 16, next page), a problem that exists in virtually all metropolitan areas of the Western world.<sup>64</sup>



Source: City of Calgary and Statistics Canada.

## 6.2 Automobile competitiveness and the future of mobility in Calgary

The City has aggressive goals for increasing transit use. The imagineCALGARY objective of increasing ridership per capita by 40 per cent by 2036 could be difficult to achieve. Rather than the stable per capita ridership that has occurred over the last 30 years, a steep increase will be required (Chart 16).

The City hopes to achieve substantially greater population and employment densities in nondowntown centres. It is establishing a priority transit network to make it more convenient to reach these centres from throughout the city. Planners assume that the much higher ridership levels required will be accomplished, at least in part, by attracting large numbers of commuters to non-downtown centres.

This may be overly optimistic. The "simple" and least costly transit ridership increases may have already occurred.<sup>65</sup> Downtown already has a high transit-market share, because the transit system and the light rail in particular focus on that location with its highest concentration of destinations. This is a rational service design, typical of transit agencies throughout North America and Western Europe, even in light of the continuing dispersion of employment that is occurring in most metropolitan areas. Typically, newer employment centres have neither the concentration of destinations that are critical to large transit


Source: City of Calgary.

market shares nor the dense mesh of radially oriented services that provide rapid, no-transfer trips for many riders.<sup>66</sup>

Transit is most effective where destinations are concentrated, which means downtown or the urban core, whether in Calgary, Montréal, Paris or London. Passengers can often walk from their homes to access transit and travel directly to the core, where they exit within walking distance of their destinations (such as in downtown).

The principal strength of transit in the downtown market is that it can provide virtually direct door-to-door, more-automobile competitive travel for many trips. At the same time, the continued dominance of the automobile results from the very suburban urban footprint that typifies virtually all major metropolitan areas in Western Europe and the New World. Recent research found that all major metropolitan areas in Canada are principally suburban, including Calgary (Box 4, next page).

BOX 4

# Calgary: Canada's Most Suburban Metropolitan Area?

The Calgary metropolitan area continues to be overwhelmingly suburban and exurban, according to Queen's University research. A team led by Dr. David Gordon examined metropolitan areas using factors such as density and work-trip travel mode, classified census tracts as "active core" (walkable), "transit suburbs," "auto suburbs" and (auto) "exurbs." Calgary was the most suburban and exurban, at 84 per cent of the population, though the differences between the six major metropolitan areas were not great. Even Vancouver, with four decades of urban containment policy, remains overwhelmingly suburban and exurban, at 73 per cent (Chart 17).



However, transit cannot effectively compete with the automobile for trips between noncore locations, because it cannot generally provide door-to-door mobility throughout the metropolitan area. Door-to-door mobility is the strength of the automobile. The vast majority of commutes have a destination outside the central business district (CBD). The automobile can also be an effective means of mobility for people working in the core, which is illustrated by the fact that in 2006, more people travelled to the Calgary CBD in the morning peak period by car (48 per cent) than by transit (40 per cent).<sup>67</sup>

The Transport Association of Canada summarizes transit's difficulties outside downtowns and the dense urban cores:<sup>68</sup> "Outside Central Areas, sustainable travel modes—walking,

cycling, and transit – have been used for only a small portion of daily trips; they appear to remain unattractive or not cost- or time-competitive compared with automobile use."

In suburban areas, transit is often not accessible by walking from the residence, while travel to destinations other than downtown can require time-consuming transfers. The City intends to improve transit connectivity to non-downtown areas by developing a "connective grid" of service. This is unlikely to materially increase transit ridership or reduce automobile usage, because transfers are still likely to be required for most trips. A 10-minute service, a single transfer and walking time between routes make automobile competitiveness a significant challenge. Indeed, the modelling data developed for the City (below) demonstrate the difficulty of this approach, with transit travel times in 2039 being uncompetitive with automobile times to virtually the same extent as in 2006.

Further, transit gains from increasing residential densities distant from downtown are likely to have little impact on increasing transit ridership or reducing automobile use. Research by Statistics Canada concludes that high densities more remote from the core are not likely to reduce automobile use.

Above 10 kilometres from the city centre, however, the impact of neighbourhood density on automobile use dwindles until it almost vanishes. If the effects of other factors are kept constant, the predicted probability that a person living in a medium- or high-density neighbourhood made all trips by car was not statistically different from that of a person living in a low-density neighbourhood.<sup>69</sup>

Attempting to increase market share outside these central areas yields diminishing returns in passengers per kilometre and in greater expense.

As Calgary Transit indicates, people tend to choose the quickest method of travel available for a trip: "Most travellers will choose the fastest mode when planning their trips."<sup>70</sup> Even with the substantial transit improvements implemented in Calgary, travel takes longer by transit. According to City of Calgary figures, in 2006 the average transit trip took more than three times as long to complete, door to door, as the average automobile trip did during peak periods. Over the complete day, the average transit trip took more than four times as long to complete as the average automobile trip. According to a City-commissioned computer-modelling report:

In 2006, the average transit trip time is more than four times longer than the average auto trip time. There are likely a couple of contributing factors: the auto mode may be used for many of the quick trips to the store—bringing down the average length of the auto trip; and transit buses follow routes through communities with frequent stops—increasing transit travel time.<sup>71</sup>

Plan It Calgary would not noticeably improve this. In 2039, the average automobile trip during peak hours will take 12 minutes compared with 42 minutes by transit. There is little change from 2006 (Chart 18, next page).

Its share of travel can broadly judge the usefulness of transit to the average resident in virtually any urban area. In 2006, transit attracted approximately 9 per cent of the trips in the City of Calgary. To increase this would require door-to-door travel differences to be materially reduced or eliminated between cars and transit. The projections commissioned by the City of Calgary forecast no such progress.



Moreover, contrary to some perceptions, taking transit to work takes more time than going by car. Statistics Canada data indicate that the average Calgary metropolitan area transit commuter had a one-way travel time of 41.4 minutes in 2011. This compares with a 24.3-minute travel time for commuters who drove. Transit travel to work takes longer than driving in all of the major metropolitan areas (Chart 19, next page).

The future is little better, according to City commissioned computer modeling. In 2006, the average transit trip during peak periods was 3.3 times. This would improve to 2.9 times in 2039 and fall back to 3.0 times in 2076, according to the City's consultant. The 2006 ratio of transit to automobile peak period trip travel time (3.3 times) is projected to drop only modestly to 2.9 times in 2039 and then rise to 3.0 times in 2076. Transit trips all day are expected to change from 4.4 times the average automobile trip time to 3.9 times in 2039 and 3.8 times in 2076. Transit travel times would be virtually as uncompetitive compared to automobiles as they are today (Chart 20, next page).<sup>72</sup> No material attraction of drivers to transit is likely to occur without materially improving transit's travel times relative to automobile travel times.



#### **Metropolitan Area Commute Times** Car and Transit 2006 and Estimated 2039



Calgary's difficulty in designing an automobile-competitive transit system throughout the city is not unusual. No metropolitan area in the high-income world has seriously considered development of a transit system that would provide service that is competitive with the automobile throughout its urban expanse, not least because it is economically infeasible. Research by Jean-Claude Ziv and this author<sup>73</sup> found that genuinely automobile-competitive transit systems would annually consume nearly all the gross domestic product of any major metropolitan area for operations and capital costs.

On the other hand, improvements to the basic transit network are likely to provide improved travel benefits to people without access to cars.

**Walking and Cycling:** The City also seeks to transfer automobile travel demand to walking and cycling. However, walking and cycling are not practical for most because of geographical constraints that make most jobs inaccessible. Further, many transit trips, such as work trips that involve intermediate stops for daycare or shopping, are virtually impossible. Weather and personal travel preferences also prevent many trips. Not surprisingly, walking and cycling continue to account for only a small part of commuting in the Calgary metropolitan area. In 2011, walking and cycling accounted for 5.7 per cent of commuting, which was down from 6.2 per cent in 2006.<sup>74</sup>

**Urban Containment's Meagre Results:** Moreover, the City's computer modelling consultant concluded that the land-use and transportation network changes envisioned in Plan It Calgary would not achieve the City's long-term objectives to substantially reduce automobile use, increase transit use and increase walking and cycling. He wrote, "Land use and network changes in Calgary may enable and, to a small degree, contribute to travel behaviour changes but are not enough to drive the significant travel behaviour changes related to mode choice that are necessary to achieve the target mode splits in the MDP and CTP."<sup>75</sup>

Despite substantial expense, transit improvements, and the forcing of higher densities with unprecedented intensification, the automobile's share of travel in the City of Calgary would remain the same in 2039<sup>76</sup> as in 2006. Transit's share of travel and that of walking and cycling would also remain the same. In the longer term, to 2076, the automobile share would drop by only 2 per cent, from 77 per cent to 75 per cent. Transit use, walking and cycling (combined) would rise only one percentage point (Charts 21, 22 and 23, next page, following). Thus, the land-use and transportation strategies of Plan It Calgary are projected to have virtually no effect on travel in the city.

**Penalizing Automobile Use:** To reach the long-term transportation objectives, the consultant adjusted the travel prediction model to impose financial penalties on automobile users to drive more of them to use transit, walking and cycling. In 2076, the model requires penalties amounting to \$1.7-billion annually to produce the desired distribution of travel by automobiles, transit, walking and cycling. The report indicates that the automobile penalties may include "expensive fuel in a post-carbon world" or the imposition of costs to "modify behaviour."<sup>72</sup> In addition, approximately \$175-million is required in "benefits" for people who ride transit, walk or cycle. No economic analysis of these penalties or benefits is provided.





However, penalties may not result from higher automobile fuel costs. The U.S. Department of Energy projections for the new fuel economy standards, which are proposed to be similar in Canada, indicate that the cost per kilometre of driving the average car, pickup and sport utility vehicle will decline in real terms (2011\$) by 13 per cent between 2015 and 2040 (Chart 25, next page<sup>78</sup>). This could leave the city with only behaviour modification to reach its transportation goals.

# 6.3 Densification and Traffic Congestion

Higher densities, such as those sought by Plan It Calgary, are associated with greater traffic congestion and more-intense local air pollution.

In a widely cited study, Reid Ewing of the University of Utah and Robert Cervero of the University of California, Berkeley, reported only a minimal relationship between higher density and less driving per capita.<sup>79</sup> In a meta-analysis of nine studies that examined the relationship between higher density and per household or per capita car travel, they found that for each 1 per cent of higher density, there is only 0.04 per cent less vehicle travel per household (or per capita). This means that 10 per cent higher density (10 per cent more people) would result in an *increase* of 9.6 per cent in total driving. In other words, driving increases nearly as much as density.



Source: U.S. Department of Energy. Canadian projections for similar fuel efficency standards not yet available.



The relationship between higher densities and greater traffic congestion is obvious. As a defined area increases its number of households, traffic volumes must increase unless both the existing residents and the new residents drive far fewer miles on average than those who previously lived in the area. Alternatively, if the existing residents continue to drive the same distances, increased traffic volumes could be avoided only if the new residents do not drive. Because there is more traffic in the same geographic area, there is likely to be more traffic congestion. Roadway travel will slow down as a result, and GHG emissions will increase.

The Rand Corporation and others documented the relationship between higher densities and greater traffic congestion.<sup>80</sup>

**Densification in the City of Calgary:** The nature and density of the City of Calgary's projected growth indicate the potential to materially increase traffic congestion.

The City plans call for significant densification. The goal is to accommodate 50 per cent of the population growth within the area of existing older development. Yet, over the past five years, 97 per cent of the city's population growth has been outside the existing development. The City forecasts that 94 per cent of the population growth will be outside of existing development over the next five years.<sup>81</sup>

Yet, projections prepared for the Calgary Metropolitan Plan anticipated that from 2019 to 2039, more than 50 per cent of the city's growth will be in the fully developed areas rather than on suburban (greenfield) sites (Chart 25, previous page). Similarly, the projections call for a substantial increase in multi-family dwellings by 2039. This would be a radical departure from current trends. The modelling report notes that construction of single-family houses in the city's fully developed areas serves "... to replace existing housing stock without increasing population. To achieve increased population levels in the Developed Areas, construction of multifamily units is required. *The level of intensification required by the MDP therefore implies a significant increase in multifamily housing."* (Emphasis in the original.)

This might not occur without City programs to encourage or even force urban deconstruction and replacement with development more consistent with the planning vision. This, as noted in Section 3.3, is occurring in Portland.

Such a change in housing preference could be difficult. The urban planning literature sometimes implies that higher-density, multi-family housing can be readily substituted among households that prefer single-family housing.<sup>82</sup> However, housing preferences vary significantly between households. Restricting housing choice, such as by discouraging detached housing, can make a metropolitan area less attractive for people from other parts of the nation or world.

Further, greater intensification would materially change the character of neighbourhoods, especially in the fully developed area. This type of intensification resulted in serious neighbourhood and community opposition in cities such as Sydney and Melbourne, where multi-story and even high-rise buildings are being imposed on areas that principally have single-family dwellings.

### **6.4 Decentralization of Employment**

A large share of new employment is expected to occur in the fully developed area of the city. From 2006 to 2039, nearly 85 per cent of employment growth is projected to be in this area (Chart 26). Most of this growth (67 per cent of the total) is projected to be *outside* downtown (Chart 27) in areas that generally cannot be effectively served by automobile-competitive transit.



Source: Derived from City of Calgary data.

The new suburban areas are likely to add more than 200,000 new resident workers (from a 400,000 increase in population). Most will have to travel to the fully developed area for employment, since little more than 50,000 jobs are planned for the suburban areas. Most people will not take transit, because they are unlikely to work downtown, as most of the new jobs will not be downtown. The net effect will likely be many tens of thousands of new workers commuting to fully developed Calgary, principally to jobs that are unreachable by automobile-competitive transit (above). This will probably increase automobile use, intensify traffic congestion and increase GHG emissions compared with a more-dispersed job and residence pattern.

# 7. Sustainability

A principle justification of urban containment policy is environmental sustainability. Yet, as the discussion below indicates, the sustainability strategies of urban containment policy produce little benefit, and at exorbitant cost.

# 7.1 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Urban containment, which is largely favoured in urban planning, generally endorses higher densities, opposes detached housing and seeks to transfer travel demand from cars to transit. It is a long-standing policy that stretches back to at least the *British Town and Country Planning Act, 1947.* Going forward, it encompasses later initiatives, especially those in the 1970s in Vancouver, Sydney and Portland.

In recent years, these initiatives have been strengthened by the concern for reducing GHG emissions. The general thinking was that GHG emissions could be substantially reduced by substituting higher-density housing for detached housing and by discouraging automobile use.

**Urban Containment: An Ineffective Strategy for Reducing GHG Emissions:** The expectation that urban containment policy would contribute substantially to reducing GHG emissions has proven to be disappointing. Comprehensive studies indicate that not only is the potential reduction minimal, it is also prohibitively expensive. Based on their research of urban containment (smart growth) policies in the United Kingdom, Echenique, Hargreaves, Mitchell and Namdeo concluded:<sup>83</sup>

Smart growth<sup>84</sup> principles should not unquestioningly promote increasing levels of compaction on the basis of reducing energy consumption without also considering its potential negative consequences. In many cases, the potential socioeconomic consequences of less housing choice, crowding, and congestion may outweigh its very modest CO<sub>2</sub> reduction benefits.

The most important reviews in the United States have also indicated that the GHG emissions reductions under urban containment policies are generally small and much less than the gains from improved fuel economy.<sup>85</sup>

**Limitations of Strategies to Reduce Driving:** Urban containment policy generally seeks to reduce automobile travel, which, as noted above, is an ineffective strategy for reducing GHG emissions. Even the apparent gains can be illusory. There is an assumption of a virtual one-to-one relationship between kilometres of automobile travel and GHG emissions. In fact, as travel speeds slow and congestion increases, fuel economy suffers. The reduction in GHG emissions can be significantly less than the reduction in driving. This substantially reduces the potential for GHG emission reductions from strategies to reduce vehicle travel.

Transport Canada research indicates that the greater fuel consumption in congested traffic can result in GHG emissions that are more than 70 per cent higher per kilometre than emissions in free-flow traffic.<sup>86</sup> Thus, strategies that rely on reducing travel can have a much less significant effect on GHG emission reduction than planned because of the greater congestion that occurs in higher-density areas (Section 7.1).

Urban containment policy is an ineffective and unnecessary strategy for reducing GHG emissions.

**The Economic Metric:** Even worse, urban containment strategies produce only modest results at exorbitant costs. The most common metric for GHG emissions reduction is the cost per metric tonne. There are various cost-effectiveness estimates for reducing GHG emissions:

McKinsey & Company estimated that GHG emissions sufficient to achieve the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) recommended reduction rates to 2030 could be achieved at an average cost of minus \$9 per tonne, with a range of minus \$250 to plus \$116.<sup>87</sup> McKinsey & Company estimated that 35 per cent of the reductions were possible for less than \$0, 40 per cent from \$0 to \$29 and 10 per cent from \$29 to \$58.<sup>88</sup>

GHG emissions can be reduced by the purchase of carbon credits, with each credit reducing GHG emissions by one tonne. Consumers can purchase carbon credits to offset the GHG emissions from air travel. The cost per tonne of GHG emissions reduction is approximately \$13.89

Indications are that the above costs may be higher than necessary. The EPA and the California Air Resources Board programs are expected to reduce GHG emissions at a cost of *less than zero.* Two Obama administration regulatory actions were adopted to improve light-vehicle fuel efficiency between 2017 and 2025. Under each of these regulations, the EPA estimates that the cost per GHG emission tonne removed would be approximately minus \$200 by 2040 and minus \$300 by 2050.<sup>90</sup>

In the United States, McKinsey & Company and the Conference Board found that sufficient GHG emission reductions can be achieved without reducing driving or living in denser housing.<sup>91</sup> In other words, urban containment policy is *unnecessary*. The reductions projected in automobile GHG emissions (below) illustrate this.

The cost of urban containment policies is far higher than these metrics. The cost of reducing GHG emissions through transit alternatives is estimated at \$1,000 per tonne,<sup>92</sup> and the additional housing costs incurred to reduce GHG emissions are estimated at nearly \$20,000 per tonne in the United States.<sup>93</sup> Obviously, such exorbitant expenditures are not only unnecessary but could also seriously hinder economic growth and increase poverty. Regional planning agencies virtually never subject their urban containment strategies to the IPCC maximum cost metric. Inevitably, the result is economic disruption, especially to households where the standard of living is reduced by the resulting higher costs of housing. Thus, urban containment policy is not only ineffective and unnecessary, but also inappropriate by virtue of its economic damage.

**Making Personal Mobility Sustainable:** Meanwhile, new government regulations are projected to reduce GHG emissions even more, even as driving continues to increase. Environment Canada forecasts a reduction in total GHG emissions from the light-vehicle fleet of 16 per cent between 2010 and 2025.<sup>94</sup> Longer-term projections for similar U.S. regulations yield huge GHG emissions reductions from automobiles, even as driving continues to increase substantially (Chart 28, next page). Other sources calculate even greater savings based upon more-conservative driving volumes.<sup>95</sup> These gains are to be cost-free. The



vehicle operating-cost savings will exceed the additional cost of the Environment Canada regulations.<sup>96</sup>

Moreover, these projections assume no regulatory standards changes beyond 2025, and as a result, the gains in GHG emissions will begin to increase at a lower rate by 2027. Yet, it seems likely that technological advances could result in a continuation of the fuel economy and GHG emissions reduction trend, which is indicated by the "Additional Improvements" line in Chart 28.

An example of a technological improvement that could materially improve automobile emissions is the automated car, also known as the self-driving car. One study suggested that fuel economy could increase from 13 per cent to 25 per cent. These improvements are in addition to the already projected GHG emissions reductions.<sup>97</sup>

Further regulations are likely, and there is considerable potential for other technological advances to improve automobile fuel efficiency beyond current estimations. A New York University research report indicates the potential progress: "The advent of a new generation of automobiles—cars that do not harm the physical environment—represents a major turning point in urban mobility."<sup>98</sup> Door-to-door automobile transportation, which plays such a large role in job creation and economic growth, is due for huge improvements in its environmental footprint.

**Housing GHGs:** The often-asserted premise is that dense housing is associated with reduced GHG emissions. Much of the research, however, excludes common GHG emissions (from elevators, common area lighting, space heating, air conditioning, vertical pumping of water, etc.) in large multi-unit buildings, usually because data is not available. Research in Sydney found that townhouses and detached housing produced fewer GHG emissions per capita than did higher-density housing when common GHG emissions are included.<sup>99</sup> Moreover, housing sustainability research is more often than not based on static rather than dynamic analysis, thus ignoring future forecasted improvements.<sup>100</sup>

Improvements have been made in reducing greenhouse gas emissions from lower-density housing. According to the Canadian Home Builders' Association, the residential sector has experienced a 5 per cent net reduction in GHG emissions since 1990, while overall GHG emissions have risen 18 per cent. This improvement in housing GHG emissions is despite a substantial increase in housing units and an increase in average new-house size.<sup>101</sup>

**Rational Sustainability Policy:** Sustainability policy needs to be economically rational. All policies that intend to address sustainability should be subjected to a rigorous cost metric to avoid exorbitant public expenditures that can result in a lower standard of living and greater poverty (and which can reduce public support for GHG emissions reductions programs). Fortunately, there are alternatives for achieving far greater reductions in GHG emissions at costs within the IPCC maximum, such as the improved automobile fuel economy noted above. McKinsey & Company and The Conference Board found in the United States, where driving per capita is greater and large urban area densities are lower, that sufficient GHG emission reductions can be made without reducing driving or living in denser housing.<sup>102</sup>



Source: http://diymaps.net/userimages/569308.gif

# 7.2 Agriculture

There are concerns that expanding urbanization is reducing agricultural land and that it could threaten food security.

In fact, Canadian agriculture is quite healthy. As is indicated in "Urban Policy: A Time for a Paradigm Shift,"<sup>103</sup> the reduction in Canadian farmland far exceeds the total urbanization in the four centuries of European settlement. The agricultural land taken out of production is greater than the total land area (Chart 29) of the Maritime provinces (New Brunswick, Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island).<sup>104</sup> Yet, agricultural productivity has improved substantially. Gross output increased 161 per cent between 1961 and 2005 at the same time as total agricultural land was decreasing. This increase in gross output was considerably greater than that of the United States' over the same period.<sup>105</sup>

Moreover, urban land areas are very small compared with agricultural lands. The total urban land area is approximately 3 per cent of the combined agricultural and urban land area. Recently released Statistics Canada data indicate that between 2000 and 2011, nearly 4.5 times as much agricultural land was *returned to its natural state* in Canada than was converted into urban land.<sup>106</sup> This newly converted urban land provided space for the addition of nearly 3.5 million urban residents.

In Canada, as in Europe and the United States, agricultural subsidy programs provide incentives to farm *more* land than is required to meet consumer demand. New York University professor Shlomo Angel has shown that, around the world, there are *adequate reserves of cultivatable land sufficient to feed the planet in perpetuity*.<sup>107</sup>

# 8. Broader economic effects

Not surprisingly, reducing discretionary income is expected to have a negative impact on metropolitan economies and the national economy.

# 8.1 Impact on Metropolitan Economies

Housing costs are important to the competitiveness of metropolitan economies. A metropolitan area with inordinately higher house prices relative to income will have a competitive disadvantage with other metropolitan areas, other things being equal. Fewer people are likely to move to the area, and businesses may leave or not relocate to the area because household incomes are often not high enough to compensate for the higher housing costs. There is a growing body of literature documenting the competitive disadvantages of urban containment policy.

An econometric analysis concluded that there is an association between the more-restrictive housing supply limitations from more-strict land-use regulation in the Randstadt (Amsterdam-Rotterdam-The Hague) and slower economic growth.<sup>108</sup>

U.S. Federal Reserve Board economist Raven Saks found that employment growth is 20 per cent less than expected in U.S. metropolitan areas with stronger land-use policies.<sup>109</sup>

After the collapse of the housing market, the U.S. Congress commissioned a report on the causes of the financial crisis. A U.S. Financial Crisis Inquiry Commission minority report identified four possible causes of the U.S. housing bubble. One of the hypotheses involved strong land-use restrictions. The report stated:

Land use restrictions. In some areas, local zoning rules and other land use restrictions, as well as natural barriers to building, made it hard to build new houses to meet increased demand resulting from population growth. When supply is constrained and demand increases, prices go up.<sup>110</sup>

Urban containment policy has also been associated with higher commercial development  $costs^{111}$  and higher retail prices. $^{112}$ 

Obviously, any such broad economic consequences would reduce discretionary incomes, undermine the standard of living and lead to greater poverty (other things being equal).

# 8.2 Impact on the National Economy

There is concern that a housing bubble may be developing in Canada. This is an ominous prospect in view of the disastrous effect of the U.S. housing bubble on its economy. Between 2004 and 2012, house prices relative to income increased more than they did in the United States, Australia or New Zealand. The increase was more than 50 per cent relative to household income. However, the effect on household budgets has been masked to some degree by low interest rates.

This seems likely to be only temporary. RBC Global Asset Management chief economist Eric Lascelles said, "Of course, rock-bottom interest rates won't last forever, and the key change on the horizon is higher borrowing costs via the Bank of Canada."<sup>113</sup>

Higher interest rates could result in substantial increases in mortgage payments. Younger households are likely to have greater financial constraints, with many facing substantial student loan debt. This will make home purchases more difficult. The seemingly inevitable prospect of higher mortgage interest rates is an imperative for housing affordability.

# 8.3 Canada: Following Australia and New Zealand?

As noted above, housing markets in Australia and New Zealand generally had house price to income ratios of 3.0 or less before the implementation of urban containment policies. These policies were adopted virtually across both nations by the 1990s. Among 39 markets rated in the "10th Annual Demographia Housing Affordability Survey," 25 now have median multiples of 5.1 or higher, while the other 14 are from 4.1 to 5.0. The situation is similar in New Zealand, where six markets have median multiples of 5.1 or higher, and only two are between 4.1 and 5.0. In Australia and New Zealand, housing affordability has seriously declined in virtually all markets, from the smallest to the largest. The highest median multiples are in the largest metropolitan areas, Sydney (9.0), Melbourne (8.4) and Auckland (8.0). Vancouver already exceeds these median multiples, at 10.3. Other major markets in Canada including Toronto (6.2), Montreal (4.7), Calgary (4.3), Edmonton (3.9) and Ottawa (3.8) are less affordable than before urban containment policy.<sup>114</sup> Other than Vancouver, urban containment policies were adopted later in Canada than in Australia and New Zealand. Experience in those countries suggests that house-price escalation in Canada could be even greater in the years to come.

# 8.4 Limits of Bank of Canada Monetary Policy

The escalating house prices have caught the attention of the Bank of Canada,<sup>115</sup> among others. More recently, most of the largest banks had credit rating downgrades by international credit rating agencies, at least in part out of concern for their inordinately large exposure to large levels of mortgage debt.

The concern has spread to the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), which has noted that housing in Canada is overvalued, yet prices are still rising (as in Norway, New Zealand and to a lesser extent, Sweden): "Economies in this category are most vulnerable to the risk of a price correction—especially if borrowing costs were to rise or income growth were to slow."<sup>116</sup>

Former federal Minister of Finance Jim Flaherty noted that the Bank of Canada is unlikely to be able to raise interest rates to slow house-price escalation and that a housing bubble could "destabilize the economy." The Bank of Canada has a monetary policy objective of keeping "inflation near 2 per cent."<sup>117</sup>

Yet, house prices are not rising because of normal market forces, because normal market forces do not operate in urban containment markets. The higher house prices relative to income are principally the result of provincial and metropolitan urban containment policy.

Housing costs, the largest expenditure item of household budgets, and a significant driver of inflation, are beyond the policy purview of the Bank of Canada. The land-use policies of provinces and metropolitan areas are the principal determinant of house-price escalation beyond historic norms.<sup>118</sup>

# 9. Putting people first for a more prosperous Calgary Area

The City of Calgary has embraced strong urban containment policies, which were endorsed by the other municipalities that ratified the Calgary Metropolitan Plan. At the same time, house prices have risen strongly relative to household income, having decoupled from their historic relationship. This is consistent with the experience of major metropolitan areas that have implemented strong urban containment policies.

The higher house prices have reduced the discretionary income of Calgary area households, and most significantly households in poverty. A lower standard of living and greater poverty is the result.

There is a larger threat, however. Calgary's house prices have escalated in an unprecedented manner and have remained elevated well above the historic market ratio. The experience of metropolitan areas with longer urban containment policy histories indicates the potential for far more serious house-price escalation in the future.

Yet, as noted in Section 7.1, urban containment policy is incapable of producing material sustainability results, including cost-effective GHG emissions reductions.

There is a need to shift urban policies to not only restore housing affordability, but also to prevent more-serious house-cost escalation. This would require reordering the priorities in the Calgary area to put the interests of people first. People are more important than the mode of travel or the urban form.

# Recommendations

There is a need for policies that allow the building of houses and neighbourhoods that are affordable for the households that have been driven out of the home-ownership market.

If house prices continue to increase at a greater rate than incomes in the Calgary area, the standard of living could decline further and real poverty could increase. Restoring housing affordability, especially for middle-income and lower-middle-income households, will require the development of single-family houses on less expensive lots in more-modest neighbourhoods than are possible under today's City of Calgary policies.

The City of Calgary should become more open to development that could restore and maintain housing affordability. At the same time, there is an important role for the other municipalities in the Calgary area. From a public policy perspective, the important issue is to restore and maintain the standard of living regardless of where new housing is built by reinstating a competitive market for land. Other urban policies are secondary. Urban containment cannot be justified on GHG emissions concerns because its costs relative to other strategies are exorbitant (Section 7.1).

#### The following recommendations are offered:

# The municipal jurisdictions of the Calgary area (the City of Calgary and all others) should:

- Focus primarily on improving the standard of living and eradicating poverty by establishing housing affordability standards and monitoring house prices relative to these standards.
- Ensure that a competitive supply of land is available for immediate development at year 2000 and before price ratios. (Jurisdictions such as Rocky View County, Foothills #31 and Wheatland County, which are not signatories to the Calgary Metropolitan Plan, are particularly well positioned to take the quickest action to provide housing affordability to households.)
- Adopt transportation policies that maximize mobility throughout the Calgary area. These strategies should seek to minimize commute travel times throughout the metropolitan area regardless of the mode of travel.
- Implement infrastructure finance options that could improve housing affordability, such as bonding, user fees and special housing districts. These could include strategies such as:
  - Bonding for Fees and Levies: Municipalities could issue bonds to finance levies and fees, with the principal and interest paid by the residents of new housing.<sup>119</sup> This would improve housing affordability by reducing initial sale prices, which is also likely to lead to more-modest existing house price increases.<sup>120</sup>
  - User Fees: All capital and operating expenses of publicly owned utilities (such as water and wastewater) should be recovered and financed through user fees.
  - Special Housing Districts: Jurisdictions could permit the establishment of special housing districts or utility districts that could offer self-contained public services and utilities (Section 4.5) that follow models in Texas, Colorado, California and

New Zealand.<sup>121</sup> This would remove the burden of providing services for such new developments from the City of Calgary, while permitting restoration of the lower-cost new-home market. At the same time, developers and home builders would have an incentive to minimize the cost of such infrastructure in order to attract buyers. This could require revisions to Alberta law.

• The Calgary Metropolitan Plan should be revised in order to achieve consistency with the above recommendations for Calgary area jurisdictions.

#### The City of Calgary should:

- Revise its urban planning policies so that they focus principally on improving the standard of living and reducing poverty by restoring historic housing affordability.
- Revise its land supply analysis to require a sufficient supply of *affordable* land. This requires that sufficient land is available for immediate development at prices consistent with historic norms (2000 and before).
- The Province of Alberta should provide an annual report on housing affordability in each of the CMAs, census agglomerations and larger municipalities, using a price to income ratio (such as the median multiple). This would be consistent with the province's interest in economic growth and the standard of living of its citizens.

Urban policies that improve the standard of living and reduce poverty by restoring housing affordability should attract support from all political perspectives. There is nothing more fundamental in public policy than facilitating higher standards of living for people and eradicating poverty.

# **Appendix A**

#### **Summary of economic research: Urban Containment and House Prices**

A principal purpose of urban containment policy is to stop the expansion of urban areas (referred to as "urban sprawl," see Box 1). This is accomplished by prohibiting development outside urban growth boundaries<sup>122</sup> or by other restrictions that confine new development to much smaller areas than before.

### A.1 The Association between Urban Containment and Higher Housing Costs

Economic principle holds that, other things being equal, scarcity in the supply of a product tends to influence its price upwardly. This is true of land for urban development. Policies that severely restrict the availability of land are associated with higher and rising house prices.

This results in significant rationing of land, which like the rationing of any good or service, leads to artificially high land prices, which increase house prices. Economists Richard Green and Stephen Malpezzi summarize the issue: "When the supply of any commodity is restricted, the commodity's price rises. To the extent that land use, building codes, housing finance, or any other type of regulation is binding, it will worsen housing affordability.<sup>123</sup>

Urban containment policy is also strongly associated with higher costs of living, principally due to the resulting higher housing costs relative to income. The economic literature documents the close association between urban containment policies and higher relative house prices.

Housing constitutes the largest share of household budgets. House price differentials are significant among Canada's major metropolitan areas and are a principal element in cost of living differences.

# A.2 Economic Research

A limited sampling of the research that indicates a connection between urban containment and higher house prices follows.

According to Brookings Institution economist Anthony Downs, the housing affordability problem occurs because of the failure to maintain a "competitive land supply." Downs notes that increased urban growth boundaries can convey monopolistic pricing power on sellers of land if sufficient supply is not available, which, all things being equal, is likely to raise the price of land and the housing that is built on it.<sup>124</sup>

If a locality limits to certain sites the land that can be developed within a given

period, it confers a preferred market position on those sites. ... If the limitation is stringent enough, it may also confer a monopolistic power on the owners of those sites, permitting them to raise land prices substantially.

In any policy that seeks to control or direct growth, it is important for jurisdictions to ensure that there is a sufficient supply of competitively priced land so that its policies do not decrease housing affordability. This point was made in a Brookings Institution policy analysis by a team led by urban containment advocate Arthur C. Nelson of the University of Utah, who associated higher house prices in California with such policies. He wrote, "... **[T]** *he housing price effects of growth management policies depend heavily on how they are designed and implemented.* If the policies serve to restrict land supplies, then housing price increases are expected." (Emphasis in original.)

Based on their research on the association between urban containment policy and house prices, Quigley and Raphael (University of California, Berkeley) noted:

Indeed, many cities complicate and add costs to the process of building new housing. Perhaps the most extreme barriers to new housing come in the form of explicit growth controls. Municipal growth control measures may take the form of moratoria on new developments, urban growth boundaries beyond which development is severely curtailed, or open space requirements intended to preserve undeveloped land.<sup>125</sup>

Economic research also identifies slower than expected economic growth in metropolitan areas with urban containment policy (Section 8.1).

World Bank economist Steven Mayo indicated, "[H]ouse prices in ... cities with stricter regulatory policies rose 30 to 60 per cent relative to less restrictively regulated cities over a 15-year period."<sup>126</sup>

Richard Green of the University of Wisconsin, along with Steven Malpezzi and Stephen Mayo, performed an econometric analysis of 44 U.S. metropolitan areas and found that heavily regulated metropolitan areas "always" had constrained housing supplies (which lead to higher prices).<sup>127</sup>

Glaeser, Gottlieb and Gyourko characterized their research as indicating that markets with stronger land-use regulation experienced larger house-price increases during the housing bubble.<sup>128</sup> They said, "...[O]ne of the policy implications ... is that in some regions more restrictive building environments exacerbated the bubble in housing prices."

Other strategies of urban containment policy have similar effects. Infill requirements limit the amount of housing that can be developed on or beyond the urban fringe, creating upward pressure on prices. Building moratoria limit the amount of housing that can be built, similarly leading to higher house prices than would otherwise be expected.

Regrettably, the housing affordability consequences were rarely, if ever, considered by government agencies as they imposed urban containment policy.

As in Auckland, urban containment has been associated with huge differences in the price of equivalent and adjacent land. In Portland,<sup>129</sup> there exist virtually "across the road" differences in raw land costs of at least 10 times. There are even greater disparities in the London, U.K., area.<sup>130</sup> In a normal market, the price differentials would be minimal.

Dartmouth University professor William Fischel cites studies in the United Kingdom and Korea that associate stronger land-use policy with housing affordability losses.<sup>131</sup>

Greater Attraction to Property Investors (also referred to as "speculators"): As urban containment policy drives up house prices, additional property investors are drawn in by the prospect of quick and substantial profits. These market participants are pejoratively called "speculators" or "flippers." These buyers further increase demand relative to supply. The house-cost escalation typical of urban containment policy thus feeds on itself by attracting this additional speculative demand, raising house prices even more. As a result, housing markets with urban containment tend to have more-volatile price fluctuations.<sup>132</sup> The role of additional investors was substantial in driving up house prices in the U.S. housing bubble.<sup>133</sup>

#### A.3 Urban Containment Policy and Housing Affordability: The Experience

California has experienced the most significant house-price escalation in the United States. As late as 1970, California house prices were within the 3.0 median multiple standard, indicating a ratio of house prices to income similar to that of the rest of the nation. However, at about that time, significant housing regulation was taken on in many parts of California, and house prices relative to income began to rise substantially above those in the rest of the nation.

Some urban planning analysts expressed concern about California's planning-related increases in house prices in the late 1970s and early 1980s, such as Bernard Frieden of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT).<sup>134</sup> In a study focusing on the experience in the San Francisco Bay Area, David Dowall of the University of California, Berkeley, noted, in 1984, "[N]ow the costs of this policy are also becoming clear: wherever stringent land-use controls have come up against burgeoning demand for housing, land and home prices have skyrocketed."<sup>135</sup>

Fischel found that by 1990, California house prices had escalated well ahead of the nation's. He discovered that the higher prices could not be explained by higher construction cost increases, demand, the quality of life, amenities, the property tax reform initiative (Proposition 13), land supply or water issues. He associated the higher prices with the expansion of land-use restrictions.<sup>136</sup>

# **Appendix B**

# Measuring Housing Affordability

Housing costs represent the largest share of household budgets, which makes housing affordability an important economic and public policy issue.

Various methods for measuring housing affordability are available. One of the most frequently used is the median multiple, the median existing house price divided by the median household income. This measure is widely used, including by the World Bank, the United Nations and the Organisation for International Co-operation and Development. Median multiple housing affordability categories are now often used (see table below).<sup>137</sup>

There has been a historic relationship between house prices and household incomes. Generally, a median multiple range of 2.0 to 3.0 was typical in the metropolitan areas of Canada, Australia, New Zealand, the United States, Ireland and the United Kingdom for most of the period since World War II. Chart 30, next page, from the Reserve Bank of Australia, that nation's central bank, indicates that housing affordability was at or below a price to income ratio of 3.0 into the late 1980s and early 1990s in each nation.

Housing affordability was the rule across the nation as late as the middle 2000s. In 2004, Calgary's median multiple was 3.0. Ottawa's median multiple was 2.9, and Montréal had a median multiple of 3.1. In 2005, Edmonton's median multiple was 2.8. Since then, substantial house-price escalation has occurred, contributing to concerns raised by the federal government, the Bank of Canada, the OECD and international credit rating agencies (Section 8.2).





\* Various combinations of median and mean measures of house prices and incomes uses depending on availablilty.

Sources: ABS; BIS; Bureau of Economic Analysis; Central Statistics Office Ireland; Communications and Local Government (UK); National Statistics website; OECD; REIA; Reserve Bank of New Zealand; Statistics Canada; Statistics New Zealand; Thomson Financial.

Chart Source: Reserve Bank of Australia.

# **Appendix C**

# City of Calgary Research and Portland Housing Affordability

In developing Plan It Calgary, the City commissioned research on the effect of urban containment policy on housing affordability.<sup>138</sup> The paper largely dismissed the role of urban containment in increasing house prices, yet acknowledged the potential: "Cities that attempt to moderate outward growth may put a gentle upward pressure on the market value of land and homes, but it is the increased desirability (the so called "amenity value") of the city that is pre-eminent."

This value judgment that "amenity value" is more important than housing affordability, and thus the standard of living, is a matter of contention. The underlying assumption of this paper, "Housing Affordability and the Standard of Living in the Calgary Area," is that improving the standard of living and eradicating poverty are a higher order public objective than any "amenity value" of the City's.

The City-commissioned paper cited research indicating that there was no unusual deterioration in Portland's housing affordability despite the metropolitan area's renowned urban containment policy. The research cited related to house price increases through 2000.<sup>139</sup>

The City commissioned paper also went to considerable lengths to quote 2000 research relating superior urban outcomes to Portland relative to Atlanta (Nelson, 2000), which does note have an urban containment program. In additional (not cited) 2001 research, this author countered points in the Nelson 2000 research.<sup>140</sup>

However, house-price increases in Portland have been large relative to incomes since 2000. Portland is internationally renowned for its early and continuing urban containment policies, which have been broadly suggested by the urban planning community for application in other places. Portland's policies include an urban growth boundary, which largely prohibits urban development beyond it.

Until the mid 1990s, Portland was one of the most affordable major metropolitan markets in the United States. The median multiple remained approximately at the 3.0 standard until most of the land within the urban growth boundary was consumed. From the 1950s through the 1980s, Portland had an average rank of 12th most affordable out of the 52 metropolitan areas that now have a population of 1,000,000 or more (using the median multiple).<sup>141</sup> Portland's affordability ranking deteriorated to 41st in the 2000s and 44th between 2010 and 2013.<sup>142</sup>

The deterioration is illustrated by comparing housing affordability in the Portland metropolitan area with three of the fastest-growing major metropolitan areas in the high-income world: Atlanta, Dallas-Fort Worth and Houston. These areas have more-liberal land-use regulation than Portland does, and they have not implemented any urban containment policies.

From 1990 to 2012, the Portland metropolitan area<sup>143</sup> grew by 50 per cent. This is stronger than the national major metropolitan area average of 30 per cent. However, Portland's growth trailed that of Atlanta (77 per cent), Dallas-Fort Worth (67 per cent) and Houston (65 per cent). Further, net domestic migration to Atlanta, Dallas-Fort Worth and Houston was much stronger than migration to Portland. These factors indicate stronger underlying demand for owned housing than in Portland (Figure 31).

The four metropolitan areas had similar housing affordability (median multiples) in 1990, with Portland, Atlanta and Dallas-Fort Worth at 2.4 and Houston at 2.2. Despite the more modest underlying demand, house prices relative to income rose much more in Portland. By 2012, Portland's median house prices relative to household income ranged from nearly 50 per cent to 75 per cent more than in Atlanta, Dallas-Fort Worth and Houston (Figure 31). Unlike urban containment markets where severe house-price escalation was concentrated in the United States, the liberal housing markets of Atlanta, Dallas-Fort Worth and Houston experienced little change in house prices during the U.S. housing bubble.<sup>144</sup>



Sources: Demographia International Housing Affordability Surveys and Harvard's Joint Centre for Housing Studies

Thus, Portland's urban containment regulatory regime has been associated with substantial overall housing price increases relative to income.<sup>145</sup> Portland's median multiple rose from the national standard of 3.0 in 1995 to 4.8 in 2013,<sup>146</sup> an increase of 60 per cent since 1995. In the mid 1990s, Portland had strengthened the stringency of its urban containment boundary and competitively priced land for urban expansion was largely exhausted.<sup>147</sup>

Portland's median multiple peaked at 5.4 in 2007 at the height of the U.S. housing bubble. It subsequently dropped to a minimum of 4.2 before beginning the more recent rise to 4.8. (As shown in Section 4.3, the housing affordability losses for lower-income households have been even more severe in Portland.)

It is also likely that Portland's housing affordability losses have been moderated by the less stringent regulatory environment in the portion of the metropolitan area located in the state of Washington (principally Clark County, where the city of Vancouver is located). Traditional new housing continues to be developed in this part of the metropolitan area, which is without the severe restrictions that exist in the Oregon portion of the metropolitan area. This may be part of the reason that the share of population growth in the Washington section of the metropolitan area has been greater since 1990 than before.

Section 3 and Appendix A summarize additional research on housing affordability.

# Endnotes

- Bertaud, Alain. (2004). "The Spatial Organization of Cities: Deliberate Outcome or Unforeseen Consequence?" Available online at <u>http://alain-bertaud.com/images/AB The spatial organization of cities Version 3.pdf</u>.
- Bertaud, Alain. (2014). "Cities as Labor Markets." Available online at <u>http://marroninstitute.nyu.edu/</u> <u>sites/default/files/ Cities As Labor Markets.pdf</u>.
- <u>3.</u> Discretionary income is gross income minus taxes, mandatory payments and necessities (such as housing, clothing, transportation and health).
- <u>4.</u> Much of current urban planning theory can be traced to the *British Town and Country Planning Act 1947.*
- 5. Throughout this report, the generic term "automobile" denotes automobiles, sport utility vehicles and personal trucks (all of these may also be called "light vehicles" or "personal vehicles").
- 6. Green, R.K. and S. Malpezzi. (2003). *A Primer on U.S. Housing Markets and Housing Policy*. Urban Institute Press, p. 146.
- 7. Statistics Canada. 2014. Average Household Expenditure, By Province (Canada). Available online at <a href="http://www.statcan.gc.ca/tables-tableaux/sum-som/l01/cst01/famil130a-eng.htm">http://www.statcan.gc.ca/tables-tableaux/sum-som/l01/cst01/famil130a-eng.htm</a>.
- <u>8.</u> Cox, W. (2013). "Urban Policy: Time for a Paradigm Shift." Available online at <u>https://www.fcpp.org/</u> posts/urban-policy-a-time-for-a-paradigm-shift.
- 9. As late as 1971, the maximum variation was less than two (according to Statistics Canada data).
- <u>10.</u> Cox, Wendell. (2013). "Dispersion in the World's Largest Urban Areas." Available online at <u>http://www.newgeography.com/content/003468-dispersion-worlds-largest-urban-areas</u>.
- 11. The Dhaka built-up urban area has an estimated population density of 44,500 people per square kilometre, more than four times the density of the Paris built-up urban area and nearly 40 times that of Calgary. Yet, commentators have decried Calgary's urban sprawl. See "Demographia World Urban Areas: 10th Annual Edition." Available online at <a href="http://demographia.com/db-worldua.pdf">http://demographia.com/db-worldua.pdf</a>.
- <u>12.</u> Shlomo, Angel. (2012). *Planet of Cities.* Available online at <u>http://www.lincolninst.edu/pubs/2094\_Planet-of-Cities.</u>
- <u>13.</u> Cox, Wendell. (2013). "Dispersion in the World's Largest Urban Areas." Available online at <u>http://www.newgeography.com/content/003468-dispersion-worlds-largest-urban-areas</u>.
- 14. Housing with ground entrances and no housing units above.
- 15. Suburban detached or other ground-oriented housing proliferates throughout North America, Japan and Western Europe, especially in post-World War II developments. In a few major metropolitan areas (such as Madrid), post-war suburban areas are dominated by multi-family housing.
- 16. These data refer to Census District 6, which includes the City of Calgary as well as all areas (and municipal jurisdictions) extending to the outer boundaries of Rocky View County, Mountain View County and Foothills #31 Municipal District. The Calgary area has various geographical definitions such as the Calgary metropolitan area, the Calgary Regional Partnership and the Calgary Economic Region, which may include the areas noted above, additional areas, or smaller areas. This report uses the general term "Calgary area" and other terms such as "Calgary metropolitan area" where more specificity is appropriate.
- 17. Referred to in City documentation as the "developed area." Developing areas outside of this are suburbs. According to the City, "A community is considered to be part of the Developed Areas when initial development and build-out is complete, and future development occurs through redevelopment and intensification." See the City of Calgary. (2012). "Developed Areas: Growth & Change 2010." Available online at <u>http://www.calgary.ca/PDA/LUPP/Documents/Publications/developed-areas-growth-2010.</u> pdf?noredirect=1.
- 18. Cox, Wendell and Hugh Pavletich. (2014). "10th Annual Demographia International Housing Affordability Survey." Available online at <u>http://www.demographia.com/dhi.pdf</u>.
- <u>19.</u> Ibid.
- 20. Hall, Sir Peter, T.H. Gracey and R. Drewett. (1973). The Containment of Urban England, George Allen & Unwin.
- 21. Brash, Donald. "Preface: 4th Annual Demographia International Housing Affordability Survey." Available online at <u>http://demographia.com/dhi4-preface.pdf</u>.
- 22. Barker, Kate. (2004). "Barker Review of Housing Supply." Available online at <u>http://www.rudi.net/files/</u> barker\_review\_execsum\_91.pdf and http://www.rudi.net/files/barker\_review\_report\_494.pdf.
- 23. Spatial Economics Research Centre. (2009). "Urban Containment, Housing Affordability and Price Stability – Irreconcilable Goals." Available online at <u>http://www.spatialeconomics.ac.uk/textonly/SERC/publications/download/sercpp004.pdf</u>.

- 24. McCarthy, Colm. (2013). "Land Zoning Helped the 'Bubble' Form," Independent, November 10, 2013. Available online at <u>http://www.independent.ie/irish-news/colm-mccarthy-land-zoning-helped-the-bubble-form-29741063.html</u>.
- 25. Hannah-Jones, Nikole. (2011). "In Portland's Heart, 2010 Census Shows Diversity Dwindling," The Oregonian, May 6, 2011. Available online at <u>http://www.oregonlive.com/pacific-northwest-news/index.</u> ssf/2011/04/in portlands heart diversity dwindles.html.
- <u>26.</u> Ibid.
- 27. Douglas, Paul H. (1968). Building the American City: Report of the National Commission on Urban Problems to the Congress and to the President of the United States. Washington: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- 28. These programs contributed substantially to the large population losses in U.S. urban cores during the period.
- 29. Fullilove, Mindy Thompson, M.D. *Root Shock: How Tearing up City Neighborhoods Hurts America and What We Can Do About It.* New York: Ballantine Books, 2004.
- <u>30.</u> Adams, Blair. (2014). "Fearing Gentrification, Black Portland Neighborhood Says 'No'to Trader Joes," *New Pittsburgh Courier*, February 9, 2014. Available online at <u>http://newpittsburghcourieronline.</u> <u>com/2014/02/09/fearing-gentrification-black-portland-neighborhood-tells-trader-joes-no-to-new-</u> <u>store/</u>.
- 31. Zheng, Guanyu. (□2013). "The Effects of Auckland's Metropolitan Urban Limit on Land Prices." New Zealand Productivity Commission. Available online at <a href="http://www.productivity.govt.nz/sites/default/files/research-note-mar-13-auckland-mul.pdf">http://www.productivity.govt.nz/sites/default/files/research-note-mar-13-auckland-mul.pdf</a>.
- 32. Official U.S. poverty rates do not consider the cost of living. A supplemental program, however, adjusts poverty rates for differences in housing costs, which vary more than five times relative to income. See Cox, Wendell and Hugh Pavletich. (2014). "10th Annual Demographia International Housing Affordability Survey." Available online at <a href="http://www.demographia.com/dhi.pdf">http://www.demographia.com/dhi.pdf</a>.
- <u>33.</u> Ihlanfeldt, Keith R. and Timothy M. Shaughnessy. (2002). "An Empirical Investigation of the Effects of Impact Fees on Housing and Land Markets." Available online at <u>https://www.lincolninst.edu/pubs/</u> <u>dl/563\_ihlanfeldt\_shaughnessy.pdf</u>.
- <u>34.</u> Government of Canada. (2010). "Government-imposed Charges on New Housing in Canada (2009)." Available online at <u>http://www.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/odpub/pdf/67163.pdf?lang=en</u>.
- <u>35.</u> See http://www.orrick.com/Events-and-Publications/Documents/1180.pdf (California), http:// westten.com/docs/texas-municipal-utility-districts-an-infrastructure-financing-system.pdf (Texas), http://highlandsranch.org/ (Colorado), <u>http://www.newgeography.com/content/003950-unblocking-</u> <u>constipated-planning-new-zealand</u> (New Zealand).
- <u>36.</u> Government of Canada. (2010). "Government-imposed Charges on New Housing in Canada (2009)." Available online at <u>http://www.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/odpub/pdf/67163.pdf?lang=en</u>.
- 37. This is under normal circumstances. A developer is not likely to proceed with a project unless a competitive return on investment can be made, which includes the government-imposed charges. Developers may not be able to recoup all of these costs when land prices fall. However, this is unusual in urban containment markets, unless, as happened in the United States, there is a serious housing bust.
- <u>38.</u> For example, see Ihlanfeldt, Keith and Timothy M. Shaughnessy. (2002). "An Empirical Investigation of the Effects of Impact Fees on Housing and Land Markets." Available online at <a href="http://www.impactfees.com/publications%20pdf/Ihlanfeldt\_Shaughnessy.pdf">http://www.impactfees.com/publications%20pdf/Ihlanfeldt\_Shaughnessy.pdf</a>.
- <u>39.</u> Gruen, Claude. (2010). *New Urban Development: Looking Back to See Forward.* Rutgers University Press.
- <u>40.</u> Calculated from CMHC and Statistics Canada data.
- <u>41.</u> Royal Bank of Canada. (2013). "Housing Trends and Affordability." Available online at <u>http://www.rbc.</u> <u>com/economics/economic-reports/pdf/canadian-housing/house-november2013.pdf</u>.
- 42. Estimated from the broad pre-tax income categories in the 2011 National Household Survey (Statistics Canada), adjusted to 2012 and applying the CMHC mortgage qualifications, assuming a 4 per cent interest rate, 25-year amortization and a 10 per cent down payment. See <a href="http://www.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/en/co/buho/hostst/hostst\_002.cfm">http://www.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/en/co/buho/hostst/hostst\_002.cfm</a>.
- <u>43.</u> Estimated at midpoint of analysis (30 years). See IBI Group. (2009). "The Implications of Alternative Growth Patterns on Infrastructure Costs." Available online at <u>http://www.reconnectingamerica.org/</u> <u>assets/Uploads/planitcalgarycoststudyanalysisaprilthird.pdf</u>.
- <u>44.</u> Nathanson, Charles and Eric Zwick. (2013). "Arrested Development: Theory and Evidence of Supplyside Speculation in the Housing Market." Available online at <u>http://scholar.harvard.edu/files/nathanson/</u><u>files/arresteddevelopment.pdf</u>.

- <u>45.</u> City of Calgary. (2007 Revised). "Affordable Housing Calgary: Fast Facts #08." Available online at <u>http://www.homelesshub.ca/ResourceFiles/cnpjhdcx.pdf</u>.
- <u>46.</u> For example, see Demographia. (2010). "Demographia Residential Land & Regulation Cost Index." Available online at <u>http://www.demographia.com/</u>.
- <u>47.</u> Bertaud, Alain. (2014). "Cities as Labor Markets." Marron Institute on Cities and the Urban Environment, New York University. Available online at <u>http://marroninstitute.nyu.edu/sites/default/</u><u>files/Cities As Labor Markets.pdf</u>.
- <u>48.</u> Cox, Wendell. "Jobs-Housing Balance and Urban Villages in Southeast England." Demographia. Available online at <u>http://www.demographia.com/db-seuknewtowns.htm</u>.
- <u>49.</u> Prud'homme, Remy and Chang-Woon Lee. (1999). "Size, Sprawl, Speed and the Efficiency of Cities." Available online at <u>http://usj.sagepub.com/content/36/11/1849.abstract</u>.
- 50. Cervero, Robert. (2000). "Efficient Urbanization: Economic Performance and the Shape of the Metropolis." Lincoln Institute of Land Policy. Available online at <u>http://www.lincolninst.edu/pubs/88</u> <u>Efficient-Urbanization</u>.
- 51. Hartgen, David T. and M. Gregory Fields. (2009). "Gridlock and Growth: The Effect of Traffic Congestion on Regional Economic Performance." Reason Foundation. Available online at <u>http://reason.org/news/show/gridlock-and-growth-the-effect</u>.
- 52. Cox, Wendell. (2004). "Public Transportation Competitiveness: Implications for Emerging Urban Areas." Available online at <u>http://trid.trb.org/view.aspx?id=899905</u>.
- 53. Transit commutes are longer than automobile commutes in every major metropolitan area of the nation. In 2007, the average transit work-trip travel time in metropolitan areas with more than one million residents was 88 per cent longer than the average work-trip travel time for people driving alone. Calculated from American Community Survey Data. See "Demographia Journey to Work Data." (2007). Available online at <a href="http://www.publicpurpose.com/ut-commute2007.pdf">http://www.publicpurpose.com/ut-commute2007.pdf</a>.
- 54. Blumenberg, Evelyn and Margy Waller. (2003). "The Long Journey to Work: A Federal Transportation Policy for Working Families." The Brookings Institution. Available online at <u>http://www.brookings.edu/</u> <u>research/reports/2003/07/transportation-waller</u>.
- 55. Raphael, Steven and Lorien Rice. (2000). "Car Ownership, Employment and Earnings." Available online at <a href="http://ist-socrates.berkeley.edu/~raphael/cars1.pdf">http://ist-socrates.berkeley.edu/~raphael/cars1.pdf</a>.
- <u>56.</u> City of Calgary. (2013). "Route Ahead: A Strategic Plan for Transit in Calgary." Available online at <a href="http://www.routeahead.ca/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/2013-0118StrategyAheadWeb1.pdf">http://www.routeahead.ca/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/2013-0118StrategyAheadWeb1.pdf</a>.
- 57. Data from the American Public Transit Association.
- 58. Canada, Australia, New Zealand and the United States.
- 59. Lafleur, Steve. (2011). "The 30th Anniversary of the C-Train: A Critical Analysis of Calgary's Light Rail Transit System." Available online at <u>http://www.fcpp.org/files/1/PS104\_30CTrain\_MR10\_F1.pdf</u>.
- <u>60.</u> Kline, Jesse. (2011). "The Cost of Calgary's New LRT Should Act as a Warning to Others." Available online at <u>http://fullcomment.nationalpost.com/2012/12/11/jesse-kline-the-cost-of-calgarys-new-Irt-should-act-as-a-warning-to-others/</u>.
- 61. Data from City of Calgary (1993), Go Plan Report, "A Comparison of Travel Behaviour in Calgary: 1971 to 1991" and Statistics Canada, "2011 National Household Survey." Working at home is excluded.
- 62. Data from 2006 Census and 2011 National Household Survey (Statistics Canada). Working at home is excluded.
- <u>63.</u> Cox, Wendell. (2013). "New Data on Commuting in Canada." Available online at <u>http://www.newgeography.com/content/003815-new-data-commuting-canada</u>.
- 64. Ziv, Jean-Claude and Wendell Cox. (2007). "Megacities and Affluence: Transport and Land-use Considerations." Available online at <a href="http://trid.trb.org/view.aspx?id=890075">http://trid.trb.org/view.aspx?id=890075</a>.
- 65. This report provides no evaluation of the cost-effectiveness of Calgary's investment in transit.
- 66. Canada's largest employment centre, which surrounds Toronto's Pearson International Airport, illustrates this. In contrast with somewhat smaller downtown Toronto, the Pearson Airport centre has little transit access and an employment density of only one-twentieth of the downtown. See <u>https://www.fcpp.org/files/1/PS135\_Transit\_MY15F3.pdf</u>.
- <u>67.</u> Transportation Association of Canada. (2012). "Urban Transportation Indicators Fourth Survey." Available online at <u>http://tac-atc.ca/sites/tac-atc.ca/files/site/doc/resources/briefing-uti-4.pdf</u>.
- <u>68.</u> Transportation Association of Canada. (2012). "Urban Transportation Indicators Fourth Survey." Available online at <u>http://tac-atc.ca/sites/tac-atc.ca/files/site/doc/resources/briefing-uti-4.pdf</u>.
- <u>69.</u> Turcotte, Martin. "Life in Metropolitan Areas: Dependence on Cars in Urban Neighbourhoods." Available online at <a href="http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/11-008-x/2008001/article/10503-eng.pdf">http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/11-008-x/2008001/article/10503-eng.pdf</a>.

- <u>70.</u> City of Calgary. (2013). "Route Ahead: A Strategic Plan for Transit in Calgary." Available online at <u>http://www.routeahead.ca/</u> and <u>http://www.routeahead.ca/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/2013-0118StrategyAheadWeb1.pdf</u>.
- <u>71.</u> City of Calgary. (2011). "Land Use and Travel: Plan It Calgary and Calgary Metropolitan Plan Scenario Series – Executive Summary." Available online at <u>http://www.calgary.ca/Transportation/TP/Documents/</u> <u>Planning/Forecasting/land-use-and-travel-scenario-series-report.pdf</u>.
- <u>72.</u> Estimated from data in <u>http://www.calgary.ca/Transportation/TP/Documents/Planning/Forecasting/</u> <u>land-use-and-travel-scenario-series-report.pdf</u>.
- 73. Ziv, Jean- Claude and Wendell Cox. (2009). "Megacities and Affluence: Transport and Land-use Considerations." Available online at <u>http://trid.trb.org/view.aspx?id=890075</u>.
- 74. 2006 Census and 2011 National Household Survey (Statistics Canada).
- 75. MDP refers to the City of Calgary Municipal Development Plan. CTP refers to the Calgary Transportation Plan. City of Calgary. (2009). "Land-use and Travel." Available online at <u>http://www.calgary.ca/</u> <u>Transportation/TP/Documents/Planning/Forecasting/land-use-and-travel-scenario-series-report.pdf</u>.
- <u>76.</u> *Ibid.* 2039 targets.
- <u>77.</u> Ibid.
- <u>78.</u> United States Department of Energy: Energy Information Administration. "Annual Energy Outlook 2013: With Projections to 2040."
- <u>79.</u> Ewing, R. and R. Cervero. (2010). "Travel and the Built Environment." *Journal of the American Planning Association,* Volume 76, Issue 3, 2010.
- 80. Sorensen, Paul, Martin Wachs, Endy Y. Min, Aaron Kofner, Liisa Ecola, Mark Hanson, Allison Yoh, Thomas Light and James Griffin. (2008). *Moving Los Angeles: Short-term Policy Options for Improving Transportation*. Rand Corporation. Available online at <a href="http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/monographs/2008/RAND\_MG748.pdf">http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/monographs/2008/RAND\_MG748.pdf</a>. See also Cox, Wendell. "Urban Travel and Urban Population Density." *Journeys.* Land Transport Authority of Singapore. Available online at <a href="http://ltaacademy.gov.sg/doc/J12%20Nov-p19Cox\_Urban%20Travel%20and%20Urban%20Population%20Density.pdf">http://ltaacademy.gov.sg/doc/J12%20Nov-p19Cox\_Urban%20Travel%20and%20Urban%20Population%20Density.pdf</a>.
- 81. City of Calgary. (2013). "Suburban Residential Growth 2013-2017." Available online at <a href="http://www.calgary.ca/PDA/LUPP/Documents/Publications/suburban-residential-growth-2013-2017.pdf">http://www.calgary.ca/PDA/LUPP/Documents/Publications/suburban-residential-growth-2013-2017.pdf</a>.
- 82. See, for example, Phillips, J. and E. Goodstein. (2000). "Growth Management and Housing Prices: The Case of Portland, Oregon." Contemporary Economic Policy. Available online at <u>http://onlinelibrary.wiley.</u> <u>com/doi/10.1111/j.1465-7287.2000.tb00030.x/abstract;jsessionid=3F931C91A37ED7A508706B2761</u> <u>2E8460.d03t02?deniedAccessCustomisedMessage=&userIsAuthenticated=false</u>.
- 83. Echenique, Marcial. (2012). "Growing Cities Sustainability: Does Urban Form Really Matter?" Available online at <a href="http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/01944363.2012.666731#preview">http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/01944363.2012.666731#preview</a>.
- 84. "Smart growth" is a synonym for "urban containment policy."
- 85. See Cox, Wendell. (2011). "Reducing Greenhouse Gases from Personal Mobility: Opportunities and Possibilities." Reason Foundation. Available online at <u>http://reason.org/files/reducing\_greenhouse\_gases\_mobility\_development.pdf</u>. See also Pisarski, Alan. (2009). "ULI Moving Cooler Report: Greenhouse Gases, Exaggerations and Misdirections." Available online at <u>http://www.newgeography.com/content/00932-uli-moving-cooler-report-greenhouse-gases-exaggerations-and-misdirection</u>s.
- 86. Calculated from data from Transport Canada. (2006). The Cost of Urban Congestion in Canada. Available online at <u>http://www.adec-inc.ca/pdf/02-rapport/cong-canada-ang.pdf</u>.
- 87. The original figures are in 2006 euros and converted here to 2013\$. See McKinsey & Company. (2010). "Impact of the Financial Crisis on Carbon Economics: Version 2.1 of the Global Greenhouse Gas Abatement Cost Curve." Available online at <u>http://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/McKinsey/dotcom/</u> <u>client\_service/Sustainability/cost\_curve\_PDFs/ImpactFinancialCrisisCarbonEconomicsGHGcostcurveV21.</u> <u>ashxs</u>.
- 88. The IPCC indicated that there is a high level of confidence that a cost of \$20 to \$50 annually per GHG tonne "reached globally in 2020-2030 and sustained or increased thereafter would deliver deep emission reductions by midcentury." Barker, Terry, Igor Bashmakov, et al. "Mitigation from a Crosssectoral Perspective," IPCC 2008. Available online at www.ipcc.ch/pdf/assessment-report/ar4/wg3/ar4wg3-chapter11.pdf, p. 660.
- 89. See <a href="http://www.terrapass.com/shop/">http://www.terrapass.com/shop/</a>.
- 90. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. "Regulatory Impact Analysis: Final Rulemaking for 2017-2025 Light-duty Vehicle Greenhouse Gas Emission Standards and Corporate Average Fuel Economy Standards." Available online at <u>http://www.epa.gov/otaq/climate/documents/420r12016.pdf</u>. Also see "Final Rulemaking to Establish Light-duty Vehicle Greenhouse Gas Emission Standards and Corporate Average Fuel Economy Standards Regulatory Impact Analysis." Available online at <u>http://www.epa.gov/ otaq/climate/regulations/420r10009.pdf</u>.

- <u>91.</u> McKinsey & Company and The Conference Board. (2007). "Reducing U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions: How Much at What Cost?"
- <u>92.</u> Cambridge Systematics. (2013). Transportation Energy Futures Series. "Effects of the Built Environment on Transportation: Energy Use, Greenhouse Gas Emissions, and Other Factors." U.S. Department of Energy. Available online at <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy13osti/55634.pdf</u>.
- <u>93.</u> Cox, Wendell. (2011). "Reducing Greenhouse Gasses from Personal Mobility." Available online at <a href="http://reason.org/files/reducing\_greenhouse\_gases\_mobility\_development.pdf">http://reason.org/files/reducing\_greenhouse\_gases\_mobility\_development.pdf</a>.
- 94. Government of Canada. (2012). "Canada's Emissions Trends 2012." Available online at <u>http://www.ec.gc.ca/Publications/253AE6E6-5E73-4AFC-81B7-9CF440D5D2C5/793-Canada's-Emissions-Trends-2012\_e\_01.pdf</u>.
- 95. Dutzik, Tony. (2013). "A New Direction: Our Changing Relationship with Driving and the Implications for America's Future." Available online at <u>http://uspirg.org/sites/pirg/files/reports/A New Direction</u> <u>vUS.pdf</u>.
- <u>96.</u> Environment Canada. (2013). Regulating Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Light-duty Vehicles (2017-2025). Available online at <u>http://www.ec.gc.ca/default.asp?lang=En&n=56D4043B-1&news=1F13DA8A-EB01-4202-AA6B-9E1E49BBD11E</u>.
- <u>97.</u> Eno Center for Transportation. (2013). "Preparing a Nation for Autonomous Vehicles: Opportunities, Barriers and Policy Recommendations." Available online at <u>https://www.enotrans.org/wp-content/</u><u>uploads/wpsc/downloadables/AV-paper.pdf</u>.
- <u>98.</u> Moss, Mitchell and Hugh O'Neill. (2012). "Urban Mobility in the 21st Century." Available online at <u>http://wagner.nyu.edu/files/rudincenter/NYU-BMWi-Project\_Urban\_Mobility\_Report\_November\_2012.</u> <u>pdf</u>.
- <u>99.</u> Cox, Wendell. (2009). "Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Reality: Residential Emissions." Available online at <u>http://www.newgeography.com/content/00728-greenhouse-gas-emissions-and-reality-residential-</u> <u>emissions</u>.
- 100. The two sectors at which urban containment policy is principally directed, personal transportation and housing, have (or will have, based upon projections) performed better than the overall economy in reducing GHG emissions.
- <u>101.</u> Cox, Wendell. (2013). "Housing Affordability and the Standard of Living in Regina." Available online at <u>http://www.chba.ca/uploads/policy per cent20archive/2013/Recognizing per cent20Success per cent20-per cent202012.pdf</u>.
- 102. Cox, Wendell. (2012). "California Declares War on Suburbia II: The Cost of Radical Densification." Available online at <u>http://www.newgeography.com/content/002781-california-declares-war-suburbia-ii-the-cost-radical-densification</u>.
- <u>103.</u> Cox, Wendell. (2013). "Urban Policy: A Time for a Paradigm Shift." Available online at <u>https://www.fcpp.org/files/1/PS151\_UrbanPolicy\_JL03F2.pdf</u>.
- <u>104.</u> From peak levels, based on provincial data between 1951 and 2011.
- <u>105.</u> Calculated from data in <u>http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection\_2011/agr/A38-1-1-2010-eng.</u> <u>pdf</u>.
- 106. Between 2000 and 2011, approximately 10,030 square kilometres of agricultural land were converted into barren land or shrub land. Approximately 2,250 square kilometres of land were converted from agricultural use to urban use. Calculated from Table 3.2, Human Activity and the Environment: Measuring ecosystem goods and services in Canada: 2013, Statistics Canada Environment Accounts and Statistics Division, 2013. See <a href="http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/16-201-x/16-201-x2013000-eng.pdf">http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/16-201-x/16-201-x2013000-eng.pdf</a>. The built-up urban area data are for 2000 and 2011 and the agricultural and natural land (forest and shrub land) data are for 2001 and 2011, as reported by Statistics Canada.
- <u>107.</u> Shlomo, Angel. (2012). *Planet of Cities.* Available online at <u>http://www.lincolninst.edu/pubs/2094</u> <u>Planet-of-Cities</u>.
- <u>108.</u> Vermeulen, W. and J. van Ommeren. (2008). "Does Land-use Planning Shape Regional Economies?" Tinbergen Institute. Available online at <u>http://papers.tinbergen.nl/08004.pdf</u>.
- <u>109.</u> Saks, R.E. (2005). "Job Creation and Housing Construction: Constraints on Metropolitan Area Employment Growth." Federal Reserve Board.
- <u>110.</u> U.S. Financial Crisis Inquiry Commission. (2011). "Final Report of the National Commission on the Causes of the Financial and Economic Crisis in the United States." Available online at <u>http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/GPO-FCIC/pdf/GPO-FCIC.pdf</u>.
- <u>111.</u> Cheshire, Paul C. and Christian A.L. Hilber. (2008). "Office Space Supply Restrictions in Britain: The Political Economy of Market Revenge." Available online at <u>http://www.lse.ac.uk/</u> <u>geographyAndEnvironment/pdf/Office%20Space%20Supply%20Restrictions%20in%20Britain.pdf</u>.

- <u>112.</u> Lewis, B. and Michaela Ballek et al. (1998). "Driving Productivity and Growth in the U.K. Economy." McKinsey Global Institute. Available online at <u>http://www.mckinsey.com/insights/mgi/research/</u> productivity competitiveness and growth/driving productivity and growth in the uk economy.
- <u>113.</u> Lascelles, Eric. (2011). "Canada's Debt Threat." Available online at <u>http://www.rbcgam.com/</u> <u>investment-insights/research-publications/\_assets-custom/pdf/rbcgam-economic-compass-canadas-</u> <u>debt-threat-201107.pdf</u>.
- <u>114.</u> Cox, Wendell and Hugh Pavletich. (2014). "10th Annual Demographia International Housing Affordability Survey." Available online at <u>http://www.demographia.com/dhi.pdf</u>.
- <u>115.</u> Macklem, Tiff. (2013). "Regearing Our Economic Growth." Available online at <u>http://www.bis.org/</u> <u>review/r130111d.pdf</u>. See also Cox, Wendell and Hugh Pavletich. (2014). "10th Annual Demographia International Housing Affordability Survey." Available online at <u>http://www.demographia.com/dhi.pdf</u>.
- <u>116.</u> OECD. "Economic Outlook, Analysis and Forecasts: Focus on House Prices" Available online at <a href="http://www.oecd.org/eco/outlook/focusonhouseprices.htm">http://www.oecd.org/eco/outlook/focusonhouseprices.htm</a>.
- <u>117.</u> Bank of Canada. (2014) "What is Monetary Policy?" Available online at <u>http://www.bankofcanada.ca/</u><u>about/what-we-do/what-is-monetary-policy/</u>.
- <u>118.</u> Reserve Bank of New Zealand Deputy Governor Grant Spencer recently told a parliamentary committee that the monetary policy tools available to his central bank were not sufficient to restrain the growth of house prices in Auckland, which has a strong urban containment policy. See <a href="http://money.msn.co.nz/businessnews/national/8626288/rbnzs-tool-kit-wont-stop-housing-bubble">http://money.msn.co.nz/businessnews/national/8626288/rbnzs-tool-kit-wont-stop-housing-bubble</a>.
- <u>119.</u> A report for the Canadian Home Builders' Association describes additional options. (2012). "Basic Urban Infrastructure for Canada: Evidence and Issues." Available online at <u>http://www.chba.ca/uploads/Urban\_Council/June2012/Tab%203%20-%20Infrastructure%20Evidence%20and%20</u> Issues%20Synthesis,%20May,%202012.pdf.
- 120. Less price escalation in new housing is likely to moderate cost escalation in the existing housing stock.
- <u>121.</u> See the following: <u>http://www.newgeography.com/content/003950-unblocking-constipated-planning-new-zealand</u> (New Zealand), <u>http://www.orrick.com/Events-and-Publications/Documents/1180.pdf</u> (California), <u>http://westten.com/docs/texas-municipal-utility-districts-an-infrastructure-financing-system.pdf</u> (Texas) and <u>http://highlandsranch.org/</u> (Colorado).
- 122. An urban growth boundary can be called by varying names, such as an urban limit or an urban service boundary. The euphemism "growth areas" is also used.
- 123. Green, R.K. and S. Malpezzi. (2003). *A Primer on U.S. Housing Markets and Housing Policy.* Urban Institute Press, p. 146.
- <u>124.</u> Downs, Anthony. (1994). *New Visions for Metropolitan America.* Brookings Institution Press and Lincoln Land Institute, p. 38.
- <u>125.</u> Quigley, John M. and Steven Raphael. (2004). "Is Housing Unaffordable? Why Isn't It More Affordable?" Journal of Economic Perspectives 18, no. 1. Available online at <u>http://urbanpolicy.berkeley.edu/pdf/</u> <u>QRJEP04PB.pdf</u>.
- <u>126.</u> Mayo, S.K. (1997). "Effects of Land and Housing Policies on Market Performance." Land Lines. Lincoln Land Institute.
- <u>127.</u> Green, R.K., S. Malpezzi, and S.K. Mayo. (2005). "Metropolitan-specific Estimates of the Price Elasticity of Supply of Housing, and Their Sources." *American Economic Review* 95, no. 2.
- <u>128.</u> Glaeser, E.L., J. Gottlieb and J. Gyourko. (May 2010). "Did Credit Market Policies Cause the Housing Bubble?" Harvard Kennedy School. Available online at <u>http://patrick.net/contrib/GlaeserGFCPaper2010.</u> pdf.
- <u>129.</u> Cox, Wendell. (2010). "Property Values 11 Times Higher across Portland's Urban Growth Boundary." Available online at <u>http://www.newgeography.com/content/001808-property-values-11-times-higher-across-portlands-urban-growth-boundary</u>.
- <u>130.</u> Barker, K. (2004). "Barker Review of Housing Supply Final Report Recommendations. Delivering Stability: Securing Our Future Housing Needs." Her Majesty's Stationery Office. Also see Barker, K. (2006). *Barker Review of Land-use Planning: Final Report Recommendations.* Her Majesty's Stationery Office.
- 131. Fischel, William A. "Comment by William A Fischel" in "The Link between Growth Management and Housing Affordability: The Academic Evidence," in Anthony Downs, ed., (2004), *Growth Management and Affordable Housing: Do They Conflict?* Brookings Institution Press.
- <u>132.</u> Glaeser, E.L. and Joseph Gyourko. (2008). *Rethinking Federal Housing Policy: How to Make Housing Plentiful and Affordable.* American Enterprise Institute, p.78.
- <u>133.</u> Haughwout, Andrew, Donghoon Lee, Joseph Tracy and Wilbert van der Klaauw. (2011). "Real Estate Investors, the Leverage Cycle, and the Housing Market Crisis." Federal Reserve Bank of New York. Available online at <u>www.ny.frb.org/research/staff\_reports/sr514.pdf</u>. Also see Glaeser, E.L. and Joseph
### FRONTIER CENTRE FOR FUBLIC POLICY SERIES

Gyourko. (2008). *Rethinking Federal Housing Policy: How to Make Housing Plentiful and Affordable.* American Enterprise Institute.

- 134. Frieden, Bernard J. (1979). The Environmental Protection Hustle. MIT Press.
- <u>135.</u> Dowall, David E. (1984). *The Suburban Squeeze: Land Conversion and Regulation in the San Francisco Bay Area.* University of California Press, p. 1.
- <u>136.</u> Fischel, William A. (1998). *Regulatory Takings: Law, Economics, and Politics.* Harvard University Press.
- <u>137.</u> Demographia. (2014). "Demographia International Housing Affordability Survey (2005 to 2013)." Available online at <u>http://www.demographia.com/dhi.pdf</u>.
- <u>138.</u> Tomalty, Ray, et al. (2008). "Housing Affordability and Smart Growth in Calgary." Available online at <u>https://www.calgary.ca/PDA/LUPP/Documents/Publications/plan-it-housing-afford-smarth-growth-report.pdf?noredirect=1</u>.
- <u>139.</u> In additional research, this this author found that Portland house price escalation was the greatest of any major metropolitan area in the United States between 1990 and 2000. See: Wendell Cox, "Smart Growth and Housing Affordability," Millennial Housing Commission, 2002, http://www.demographia. com/coxsg.pdf.
- 140. The 2000 cited research was Arthur C. Nelson, "Effects of Urban Containment on Housing Prices and Landowner Behavior," Land Lines, 19(3). Virtually identical findings were published in Arthur C. Nelson,, "Economic Development and Smart Growth," News & Views, (American Planning Association, Economic Development Division), October 1999. The findings in these articles were critiqued in Wendell Cox, "American Dream Boundaries: Urban Containment and its Consequences," Georgia Public Policy Foundation, June 2001, <u>http://www.demographia.com/db-adrboundaries.pdf</u>.
- <u>141.</u> Data from U.S. Census, Joint Center on Housing Studies (Harvard University) and the "Demographia International Housing Affordability Survey".
- <u>142.</u> Cox, Wendell. (2011). "Constraints on Housing Supply: Natural and Regulatory." *Econ Journal Watch*. Available online at <u>http://econjwatch.org/file\_download/472/CoxJanuary2011.pdf</u>.
- 143. The metropolitan area data in this analysis uses the 2013 geographical components as defined by the U.S. Office of Management and Budget.
- <u>144.</u> Cox, Wendell. (2011). "The Housing Crash and Smart Growth." Available online at <u>http://www.ncpa.org/pdfs/st335.pdf</u>.
- 145. It is also likely that Portland's housing affordability losses have been moderated by the less stringent regulatory environment in the portion of the metropolitan area located in the state of Washington (principally Clark County, where the city of Vancouver is located). Traditional new housing continues to be developed in this part of the metropolitan area without the severe restrictions that exist in the Oregon portion of the metropolitan area. This may be some of the reason that the share of population growth in the Washington part of the metropolitan area has been greater since 1990 than before.
- <u>146.</u> Cox, Wendell and Hugh Pavletich. (2014). "10th Annual Demographia International Housing Affordability Survey." Available online at <u>http://www.demographia.com/dhi.pdf</u>.
- <u>147.</u> Cox, Wendell. (2011). "Constraints on Housing Supply: Natural and Regulatory." Available online at <a href="http://econjwatch.org/articles/constraints-on-housing-supply-natural-and-regulatory">http://econjwatch.org/articles/constraints-on-housing-supply-natural-and-regulatory</a>.



#### **Further Reading**

December 2013

# Housing Affordability and the Standard of Living in Regina

By Wendell Cox

http://www.fcpp.org/posts/housing-affordability-and-the-standard-of-living-in-regina

December 2013

# Housing Affordability and the Standard of Living in Saskatoon

By Wendell Cox

https://www.fcpp.org/posts/housing-affordability-and-the-standard-of-living-in-saskatoon

May 2012

#### Improving the Competitiveness of Metropolitan Areas

By Wendell Cox

http://www.fcpp.org/files/1/PS135\_Transit\_MY15F3.pdf



Ideas for a Better Tomorrow